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CHAIRMAN AND CEO REPORT

2018 was a year of realignment and 
consolidation for Invigor, marked 
by the achievement of a number 
of considerable milestones in 
the journey of transforming the 
Company’s strategy.  
Following the completion of a strategic 
review during the year, the Board made 
the decision to invest in its key products 
Loyalty, Shopper Insights and Pricing 
together with opportunities for strategically 
aligned businesses and opportunities.  
This approach is a means to more 
sustainable revenue streams, which 
provide more value to the business and its 
shareholders.  

The acquisition of Singapore-based 
Mobile Engagement and Loyalty platform 
Sprooki in 2017 acted as a catalyst for 
the ongoing investment in the innovative 
Shopper Insights product. In 2018 the 
Company initiated pilots for a major retailer, 
a shopping centre group and a payments 
platform. These programs clearly 
demonstrated the value of this solution to 
these markets, and Invigor will continue to 
build on these successes.

Furthermore, the divestment of non-core 
assets played a vital role in the overall 
strategy, as it renewed our purpose of 
delivering data-driven, innovative solutions 
for commerce, and allowed us to leverage 
the value of acquisitions more strategically.

The highlight of this new focus was the 
partnership secured with Tencent partner 
Winning Group in September 2018. Invigor 
was granted the rights to distribute and 
expand WeChat Pay services in South-
East Asia, starting with 3 key markets: 
Singapore, Hong Kong and Japan. This 
leaves the Company well placed for growth 
in the next year and beyond. 

During the year, the Company sold its 
German service-based business Condat 
for ~$2.8 million, which significantly 
strengthened its balance sheet, and spun 
out TillerStack – the software solution 
for Field Force Management – into a 
100%-owned subsidiary.
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IN 2018 THE COMPANY 
INITIATED AND 
SUCCESSFULLY 
COMPLETED PILOTS 
FOR A MAJOR RETAILER, 
A SHOPPING CENTRE 
GROUP AND A PAYMENTS 
PLATFORM.
THESE PROGRAMS 
CLEARLY DEMONSTRATED 
THE VALUE OF THIS 
SOLUTION TO THESE 
MARKETS, AND INVIGOR 
WILL CONTINUE TO BUILD 
ON THESE SUCCESSES. 
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The highlight of this new focus was the partnership 
secured with Tencent partner, Winning Group, in 
September 2018, in which Invigor was granted the 
rights to distribute and expand WeChat Pay services 
in South-East Asia

Transformational partnership with 
Winning Group 

The Company launched its first payment 
partnership with Tencent partner, Winning 
Group during the year. Under the final 
Heads of Agreement (HOA), Invigor’s 
Loyalty solution is to be integrated into the 
WeChat payments platform. WeChat Pay 
has over 1 billion users mainly in China 
and South-East Asia. This step has been a 
game-changing catalyst for the Company’s 
ability to achieve scale from its solutions 
and to generate revenue from transactions. 

Importantly, the broadened scope of 
the HOA with Winning provided security 
of tenure and resulted in the significant 
expansion of Invigor’s footprint into three 
very large markets and two of the most 
visited destinations by Chinese tourists, a 
large percentage of which use WeChat Pay 
for their purchases. 

The future geographical expansion 
into Japan and the increase in scope 
is reflective of the demand and global 
appeal of Invigor’s Loyalty for financial and 
payment providers, and the technology in 
delivering sophisticated loyalty capabilities 
for both merchants and shoppers. Payment 
partners like WeChat Pay are helping 
accelerate the adoption of Invigor’s 
core Loyalty solution and introduce new 
scalable transaction-based revenue 
streams to the business.

Microsoft partnership continues to grow

The binding MOU signed in December 
2017 with Microsoft Pty Limited came 
into full effect in 2018. Under the MoU, 
Microsoft and Invigor collaborated to drive 
digital transformation in the retail industry, 
a key strategic vertical focus for both 
organisations. 

The partnership with Microsoft initiated a 
separate MOU signed with Neal Analytics, 
a specialised data analytics company, 
Microsoft Global Partner of the Year for 
Business Analytics’ for 2017.

A joint case study was published by 
Microsoft in June which examined how 
Invigor’s products helped retailers become 
more data-driven by understanding 
the market, their competitors and their 
customers in order to make better business 
decisions that improve sales volume, 
margin and long-term profitability.

In November, Invigor received Co-Sell 
status from Microsoft. Under this program, 
Invigor actively works with Microsoft and its 
channel sales team to sell the Company’s 
solutions to Microsoft’s extensive customer 
base, as well as its wide network of 
partners globally. The Co-Sell status 
greatly expands the potential business 
opportunities for Invigor and opens further 
opportunities internationally.

Business growth in Australia and 
Germany

Invigor’s revenue for CY2018 increased 
84% to $3.44 million (CY 2017: $1.87 
million) aided by $1.1 million in R&D tax 
rebates (CY 2017: $1.2 million) but driven 
by growth in revenue from core operations 
and TillerStack’s contribution. Revenue 
from sales, licence fees and services from 
the core Loyalty and Pricing divisions were 
up 74% to approximately $1.25 million 
(2017: $721,000)

Annualised recurring revenue (ARR) 
strengthened significantly off the back 
of major contract wins for its Pricing and 
Loyalty solutions, including Carlton & 
United Breweries (CUB), a subsidiary of 
AB InBev, the world’s largest brewer and 
a contract for the Independent Pricing 

and Regulatory Tribunal’s (IPART) data 
requirements for its review of the Container 
Deposit Scheme (CDS) in New South 
Wales.

In Germany, the TillerStack business 
continues to establish itself as a 
revenue-generating arm in its own right. 
At December 31, 2018 eight months’ 
revenue of $1.06 million was booked from 
the TillerStack Field Force Management 
business, while in February 2019 it also 
secured a two-year contract renewal with 
leading European telecommunications 
company, Unitymedia (parent company 
Vodafone) valued at over $1 million.

The Company’s balance sheet was 
significantly strengthened in December, 
when it received conversion notices from 
the holders of Convertible Notes. These 
conversions significantly reduced Invigor’s 
debt by $3.68 million and, along with 
the Condat sale, enabled net debt to be 
reduced 35%, or $3.9 million during the 
year, to ~$7.2 million. Excluding related 
party debt of $2.6 million, debt reduced by 
54% during the year.

$3.9m
35%being

TOTAL REDUCTION 
IN DEBTduring the year.



Exciting future for Invigor

Invigor’s transformation continues in 
2019 with a solid foundation set to deliver 
strong outcomes across all aspects of the 
business. Invigor looks for strategically 
aligned partnerships that accelerate its 
go-to-market strategy, while maintaining 
its strong track record for growth in key 
Australian and Asian markets.

The Board is particularly focused on the 
large-scale and unparalleled opportunity 
presented with financial and payment 
providers that have the potential to 
transform the Company. We intend to build 
upon this foundation and strengthen our 
position in this fast-growing sector even 
further.

Our objective is to deliver the necessary 
revenue from contract wins, rapidly deploy 
Shopper Insights & Loyalty solutions 
across South-East Asia and reduce costs. 
We have made significant progress 
towards strengthening the balance sheet 
while removing debt, and this will continue.

Finally, we would like to thank our 
shareholders for their ongoing support. 
Invigor Group has paved the way to a 
successful 2019 and is primed to continue 
the strong operational milestones of 2018, 
whilst delivering value to its shareholders.  

Bob McKinnon  Gary Cohen 
Chairman  CEO

DURING THE YEAR, THE COMPANY 
SOLD ITS GERMAN SERVICE-
BASED BUSINESS CONDAT 
FOR ~$2.8 MILLION, WHICH 
SIGNIFICANTLY STRENGTHENED 
ITS BALANCE SHEET, AND 
SPUN OUT TILLERSTACK – THE 
SOFTWARE SOLUTION FOR FIELD 
FORCE MANAGEMENT – INTO A 
100%-OWNED SUBSIDIARY.

$1.251m
74%
Revenue from core  
Pricing & Loyalty products up

TO

Gary Cohen - CEO
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INVIGOR GROUP VISION

To empower commerce globally with 
innovative, data-driven products 
proven to deliver business outcomes 
and growth for our customers.

ABOUT US - LOYALTY, PRICING AND TILLERSTACK
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Commerce is facing a new normal. Digital 
disruption has changed the way retailers 
manage their business, compete in the 
market, engage with their customers and 
receive payments. Now more than ever, 
retailers need data-driven solutions that 
empower them with real-time knowledge 
of what their competitors are doing, what 
their customer’s purchase drivers are and 
actionable insights that help them grow 
profitably.

Invigor is laser focused on commerce and 
applies data to innovative solutions that 
help solve strategic challenges around 
pricing, promotions, merchandise, sales 
and customer strategies.

By using a mix of artificial intelligence 
and technology combined with industry 
knowledge, Invigor’s cloud-based solutions 
demonstrate significant uplift in margin, 
sales, productivity and profitability. 
Innovative solutions such as competitive 
pricing and promotion, loyalty and 
personalised engagement and field force 
management empower customers to 
become data-driven and make the best 
business decisions based on real-time 
accurate data and actionable insights.

Invigor’s team of industry experts and 
technology enthusiasts help customers 
from a wide range of retail verticals 
including liquor, consumer electronics, 
ecommerce, as well as shopping centres 
and financial services and payments 
companies, to increase long-term 
profitability. Invigor’s customer footprint 
continues to expand globally.

Invigor Group is a B2B data 
intelligence and solutions company 
that turns data analytics into dollars 
for the retail and financial services 
industries.
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Products

Loyalty

Invigor’s Loyalty solution uses complex 
data sets (such as transaction and 
customer data as well as competitive 
pricing and promotion data) and artificial 
intelligence to provide strategic insights 
and loyalty solutions to commerce based 
business, improving key drivers of sales, 
profit and customer value. 

Loyalty has a range of products that 
help B2C businesses understand their 
customers and influence their journeys, 
increase spend and lifetime value. Invigor 
works with partners such as payments 
providers to deliver Loyalty solutions to 
Merchants as a value-added premium 
service.  Loyalty products include: Visitor, 
Campaign & Rewards, Shopper Insights 
and Payment Partnerships.

Visitor supercharges existing WiFi 
networks, enables them to become 
powerful tools to collect, analyse 
and understand customer and visitor 
behaviour.

Campaign & Rewards provides insights 
on customer behaviour and enables 
improvement of key metrics such as 
store visits, spend and loyalty through 
more targeted, digitised engagement like 
promotions, offers, loyalty programs and 
personalized messaging.

Shopper Insights utilises artificial 
intelligence and machine learning to 
enable commerce-based customers to 
identify, retain and acquire more valuable 
customers, improve promotional efficiency 
and product assortment as well as making 
the most of dynamic recommendations 
to improve sales, customer lifetime value 
and maximise investments in marketing, 
merchandising and customer strategy.

Payment Partnerships leverage Invigor’s 
loyalty technology and retail expertise to 
provide valuable shopping behaviour data 
and insights, offering next-level customer 
engagement. Invigor combines its 
advanced loyalty technology with payment 
platforms intelligence (WeChat Pay for 
instance) in order to maximise retailers 
and merchants’ capabilities to understand, 
identify and engage the right customers 
at the right moment of their shopping 
journey via membership programs, official 
accounts, targeted advertising and store 
campaigns. 

Industries:
Retailer, Brand, Financial and Payment 
Services, Shopping Centre, eCommerce, 
Marketplace, Retail Property.

Customers & pilots:
Mercatus, Afterpay, Stockland, Dan 
Murphy’s, Retail Drinks Association, 
WeChat Pay, Sky Venture.

Pricing

Invigor’s Pricing solution provides visibility 
into competitor’s pricing and promotions 
to help customers develop successful 
strategies and make better repricing and 
investment decisions that improve sales, 
volume and margin. Invigor is able to 
deliver near real-time data at a granular 
product level through a variety of tools 
which include dashboards, alerts, reports, 
data feeds to consumer brands, retailers, 
government organisations and data 
partners. 

In partnership with Neal Analytics, a 
Microsoft Gold Partner, Invigor delivers 
sophisticated models and predictive 
recommendations to optimise promotional 
effectiveness and product assortment.

Industries:
Consumer Electronics, Liquor, Health & 
Beauty, Hardware & Tools, Pool Supplies, 
Telecommunications.

Customers:
Sharp, Pernod Ricard, Epson, Moet 
Hennessy, Accolade, Telia, Comvita, The 
Good Guys, Accolade Wines, Carlton & 
United Breweries.

TillerStack | Skyware

Invigor currently operates an established 
integrated field force management 
solution for companies with mobile staff in 
service and maintenance. This solution is 
known as Skyware. 

Skyware allows companies to seamlessly 
manage their mobile workforce. 
It optimises technical, field workflow, 
increases customer satisfaction through 
AI and provides dispatchers and mobile 
workers with an intuitive interface for all 
directives. 

Customers:
Industry Association for Craftsmen  
and Tradesmen, Unitymedia, Edeka, 
Enertrag, Mahle, Alba, Gasag.
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FINANCIAL REPORT

The Board of Invigor Group Limited is committed to achieving 
and demonstrating a robust corporate governance framework. 
In determining appropriate governance practices, the Company 
has examined the corporate governance principles and 
recommendations published from time to time by the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Council (ASX 
Governance Principles).

Corporate governance practices are continually being reviewed 
and refined to meet the requirements of the Company.  The 
corporate governance policies and practices described below 
are those that have been in place throughout the year ended 31 
December 2018 or as at the date of this report where indicated.

This Corporate Governance Statement (Statement) outlines the 
main corporate governance practices of the Company. These 
practices comply with the ASX Governance Principles unless 
otherwise stated. If a recommendation has not been adopted by 
the Company, or an alternative approach has been taken, then the 
reasons for doing this are explained.

All references to the Company website in this Statement is www.
invigorgroup.com. 

This Statement was approved by the Company’s Board on 26 
March 2019 and is current as at that date.

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR 
MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT BY THE BOARD 
The Board is responsible for guiding and monitoring the overall 
business performance and strategic direction of the company on 
behalf of shareholders to whom it is accountable.

The Board has adopted a charter which details the roles and 
responsibilities that are specifically reserved to it for decision. This 
can be viewed on the Company’s website.

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board in those duties 
detailed above and for overseeing the efficient and effective 
operation of the Company by the senior executive team on a 
day-to-day basis.

The Chief Executive Officer oversees the implementation of 
strategies approved by the Board and is accountable to the 
Board for all authority delegated to the senior executive team. The 
Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for bringing material 
matters to the attention of the Board.

The process for monitoring and evaluating the performance of 
senior executives is detailed in the annual Remuneration Report 
contained in the Annual Report. Formal evaluations of senior 
executives were undertaken during 2018.

The process for monitoring and evaluating the performance of 
senior executives is detailed in the annual Remuneration Report 
contained in the Annual Report. An enhanced evaluation process 
for senior executives was implemented during 2018. 

Non-executive directors are appointed pursuant to formal letters 
of appointment which, among other things, set out the key terms 
and conditions of the appointment, the board’s expectations in 
relation to the performance of the director, procedures for dealing 
with a director’s potential conflict of interest and the disclosure 
obligations of the director, together with the details of the 
director’s remuneration.

Senior management have written agreements with the Company 
setting out the terms of their employment.  Details are contained 
in the annual Remuneration Report.

The Company Secretary is accountable directly to the Board, 
through the Chairman, on all matters to do with the proper 
functioning of the Board. 

Diversity Policy 

A formal diversity policy has not been adopted by the Board. 
The Company makes assessments of employees and potential 
employees based on the ability of a person to perform their 
defined role and to meet the cultural objectives of the Company. 
Decisions are made irrespective of a person’s gender, age, race, 
religion or cultural background. The practices for assessing and 
appointing employees are considered appropriate to meeting the 
needs of the Company taking into account its present size and 
operating structure. Accordingly, it is not considered appropriate 
or necessary to set measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity and none have been disclosed. 

As at 31 December 2018, the following gender diversity levels 
were evidenced in the Company:

• The proportion of female directors: 14%

• The proportion of female employees who are key 
management personnel: 20%

• The proportion of female employees in the whole  
organisation: 24%

The Board is committed to reviewing the performance of 
Non-executive Directors and the Board as a whole. Due to the 
size of the Company, no formal evaluation was completed in 2018. 
However, the Independent Directors are fully engaged with the 
senior executives in reviewing the strategy of the Company and 
the Corporate Governance framework.

PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD 
VALUE 
The Board considers that its composition should be such that 
there is collectively a complementary mix of skills, personal 
attributes and experience amongst the members appropriate 
to the requirements of the Company.  An appropriate selection 
process, including character and background checks, is 
undertaken before appointing a person to the Board or 
recommending a candidate for election. The skills, experience 
expertise and length of service of each director in office as at the 
date of this report are detailed in the Directors’ Report contained 
in the Annual Report.

At the date of this report, the Board comprises seven directors as 
follows: 

Robert (Bob) McKinnon (Chairman) – Chairman and 
Independent Non-executive Director (appointed 3 July 2017)

Gary Cohen – Executive Director and CEO (appointed 19 July 
2012) 

Gregory Cohen – Executive Director and CFO (appointed 19 July 
2012) 

Claire Mula – Executive Director and COO (appointed 3 July 
2017) 

Corporate Governance Statement
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Roger Clifford – Independent Non-executive Director (appointed 
18 November 2015) 

Jeremy Morgan – Independent Non-executive Director 
(appointed 2 March 2016) 

Jack Hanrahan – Independent Non-executive Director (appointed 
3 July 2017) 

On an annual basis, the Board assesses the independence of 
all Directors against the criteria outlined in Box 2.3 of the ASX 
Governance Principles. The Board considers an independent 
director to be a non-executive director who is not a member of 
the Company’s management and who is free of any business or 
other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could 
reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the independent 
exercise of their judgement. 

The Board considers the materiality of any given relationship on 
a case-by-case basis, having regard to both quantitative and 
qualitative principles.

The Board has assessed the independence of the Non-executive 
Directors in light of the above criteria. Bob McKinnon, Roger 
Clifford, Jeremy Morgan and Jack Hanrahan are considered 
independent directors.

Gary Cohen, Greg Cohen and Claire Mula by virtue of their 
executive positions are considered non-independent, based on 
the criteria in Principle 2 of the Governance Principles.

Based on this assessment the board has a majority of 
independent directors.

The term of office held by each director in office at the date of this 
statement is outlined earlier in this statement.

The Board considers the current composition to be appropriate 
having regard to the Company’s present size and business 
objectives. The composition of the Board will be reviewed as 
business plans are implemented.

Directors have rights of access to management and to seek 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense 
to assist them with performing their duties.  The Company 
provides directors with the opportunity to undertake appropriate 
professional development activities and provides appropriate 
materials to new directors as part of their induction. 

Board Committees

The Board has previously established the following committees to 
assist it in the execution of its duties:    

• Remuneration Committee; and    
• Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee are the 
independent non-executive directors, Mr Clifford and Mr 
Hanrahan, with Mr Clifford as chairman of this committee.  The 
committee was formed at the end of 2017 however since that 
time and throughout 2018 the Board agreed to undertake the role 
of the Remuneration Committee, and as such no meetings were 
held. 

The members of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee are 
the independent non-executive directors, Mr McKinnon and Mr 
Morgan, with Mr McKinnon as interim chairman of this committee.  
Mr McKinnon is considered the most experienced director to be 
appointed as chairman of this committee despite his position as 
chairman of the board. Mr Gary Cohen and Mr Gregory Cohen, 
Executive Directors, attend all Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee meetings.  

The Board has not established a separate Nominations 
Committee as this is deemed not necessary at this time.  All 

nomination matters are dealt with by the Board directly and the 
Board Charter reflects this.

The number of board and committee meetings and attendance at 
these meetings are disclosed in the Directors Report of the 2018 
Annual Report.

Each Committee is governed by a formal charter setting out 
its duties and responsibilities, and these can be found on the 
Company website. 

Board skills matrix 

The Board Charter includes a responsibility for annually 
assessing the skills of the Board to ensure that it maintains a 
sufficient number of directors with an appropriate skills mix. The 
establishment of a formal skills matrix has not been undertaken, 
but in appointing directors, existing skills and required skills were 
considered in these appointments. Consideration will be given to 
establishing a formal board skills matrix during 2019.  

Induction of new directors 

The Board has a program of induction for new directors including 
access to all corporate documents, strategy papers and meetings 
with key management. 

PRINCIPLE 3: ACT ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY 
The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct that sets out the 
minimum standards of moral and ethical behaviour expected of all 
directors, senior executives and employees. The Code of Conduct 
is not exhaustive and cannot anticipate every situation, which may 
arise. It is expected that common sense and sound judgement 
will be applied. The Code of Conduct is based on the following 
guiding principles:    

• to act honestly and fairly in all business transactions and 
dealings with others.    

• to treat other directors and employees, contractors, 
customers, competitors and all other persons with whom they 
deal at work with the utmost courtesy and respect.    

• not to compromise a duty to act within the best interests of the 
Company.    

• to comply with all laws and regulations applicable to the 
business of the Company.

PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN 
CORPORATE REPORTING 
The Board reestablished an Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee in November 2017. Prior to this, matters delegated 
to the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee under its charter 
were considered directly by the Board. The matters delegated 
to the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee are outlined in 
the committee Charter, which can be viewed on the Company’s 
website.

An auditor independence policy has been approved that 
details processes to be undertaken to be satisfied that auditor 
independence is maintained. The policy details the types of 
non-audit services that are permitted to be provided by the 
external auditor and those that are prohibited from being 
provided.  The Board assesses the auditor independence prior 
to adopting the Interim Financial Report and the Annual Financial 
Report.

The Board meets with the external auditor at least twice a year 
and more frequently, if considered necessary. The auditor attends 
the Annual General Meeting of shareholders and is available to 
answer questions relevant to the audit.
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The Board confirms it receives the written declaration required by 
Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (Corporations 
Act) prior to approving the Company’s financial statements. 
The declaration includes statements from the CEO and the CFO 
that, in their opinion, the financial records have been properly 
maintained, the financial statements comply with appropriate 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the financial 
position and performance of the entity and that the opinion has 
been formed on the basis of a sound system of risk management 
and internal control which operate effectively in all material 
respects. The Board notes that due to its nature, risk management 
and internal control assurance can only be reasonable rather than 
absolute. This is owing to such factors as the need for judgement, 
the use of testing on a sample basis, the inherent limitations in 
internal control and because much of the evidence available is 
persuasive rather than conclusive and therefore is not and cannot 
be designed to detect all weaknesses in control procedures. 

PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED 
DISCLOSURE 
The Board is committed to providing shareholders and the 
investment community generally with timely information about 
material financial and non-financial events that impact upon the 
Company.

To reinforce this intention, the Company has approved an External 
Reporting Policy, a copy of which is available on the Company 
website. This policy is designed to ensure the Company complies 
with its disclosure obligations for both financial and non-financial 
information in accordance with the Corporations Act and the ASX 
Listing Rules.

The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Finance Officer and 
the Company Secretary have each been appointed as persons 
having authority for communicating with the Australian Securities 
Exchange. This includes responsibility for ensuring compliance 
with the continuous disclosure requirements contained in the 
ASX Listing Rules, and overseeing and coordinating information 
disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media 
and the public.

PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY 
HOLDERS 
The Board is committed to providing shareholders with 
information about itself and its governance in a timely manner to 
inform them about matters affecting the Company.

The Company does not have a formal investor relations program 
in place due to regular engagement with key stakeholders and 
the size of the organisation and its register.

The principal communication channels are via the Company’s 
website and through the provision of the annual and half yearly 
reports, Company announcements and Shareholder Meetings.

The process for communicating with shareholders and other 
parties is documented in the External Reporting Policy. All 
shareholders have the option to receive communications 
electronically from, and send communications to the Company, 
by providing relevant details to the Company’s service provider 
Boardroom Pty Ltd. 

Invigor’s annual general meeting is convened once a year, usually 
in May. In relation to its meetings of shareholders, an explanatory 
memorandum on the resolutions is included with the notice of 
meeting.

Shareholders are encouraged to vote on all resolutions and 
unless specifically stated otherwise in the notice of meeting, all 
shareholders are eligible to vote on all resolutions.  Shareholders 
who cannot attend the annual general meeting may lodge a proxy 
in accordance with the Corporations Act. Proxy forms may be 
lodged with the share registry by mail, hand delivery, facsimile or 
electronically.

Transcripts of the chairman’s address and any investor 
presentation is released to the ASX upon the commencement 
of the annual general meeting and the outcome of voting on 
resolutions at the meeting is released to the market after the 
conclusion of the meeting.  Both documents are also posted on 
the Company website.

In the event that shareholders cannot attend formal meetings, they 
are able to lodge a proxy in accordance with the Corporations Act 
by mail or online.

The Company’s website provides shareholders with access to:

• annual and half yearly financial reports and presentations;    

• announcements and media releases;    

• information on the Company’s business strategy and 
objectives;    

• details on business activities;    

• information on corporate governance practices;    

• details about the Board of Directors and senior executive 
management; and    

• information on how shareholders can communicate with the 
Company.

PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 
The Board is responsible for and oversees and reviews the 
effectiveness of risk management and internal compliance 
management in the organisation. The Company does not have 
an internal audit function due to the size of the organisation. 
Documented policies to enable appropriate management of 
business risk have been adopted. Management is responsible 
to the Board for identifying, managing, reporting upon and 
implementing effective operational measures to address risk and 
compliance. The Board receives regular reports on compliance 
with governance policies, including a formal annual compliance 
report.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee reviews the 
Company’s management of financial and compliance risks to 
ensure adherence to the Company’s obligations. While no formal 
risk management framework review was completed in 2018, the 
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee reviews strategic risk 
involved in the business including analysis of forecast models and 
sales pipelines. Compliance risk is reviewed regularly to ensure 
reporting standards are met.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee’s current membership 
and the independence of the members are set out earlier in this 
Statement.

FINANCIAL REPORT

Corporate Governance Statement
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The Company and its controlled entities have no material 
exposure to environmental and social sustainability risks. The 
Company is exposed to economic risks associated with its 
business activities. These risks are managed through adoption of 
appropriate risk management and internal control processes.

Entities in which the Company has invested which are not 
controlled entities are responsible for their own risk management 
and internal control processes and reporting. The Company 
oversees those processes through board representation and 
involvement in assisting and overseeing the management of those 
businesses. 

PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND 
RESPONSIBLY 
As noted previously in this Statement, the Board has established 
a Remuneration Committee that operates under a formal charter.   
The responsibilities of this committee are outlined in its charter, a 
copy of which can be found on the Company’s website. During 
2018 the responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee were 
undertaken by the Board as a whole. 

The Company’s remuneration policy and practices are designed 
to attract, motivate and retain appropriately qualified and 
experienced people, and to ensure that remuneration of all 
directors, executives and staff properly reflect each person’s 
accountabilities, duties and level of performance.

Details of the structure, composition and quantum of the 
remuneration of directors and senior executives are contained in 
the annual Remuneration Report.

Non-executive Directors are remunerated by way of fees which 
are set with reference to the prevailing market rates. They do 
not participate in the schemes designed for the remuneration of 
executives, nor do they receive bonus payments or any retirement 
benefits other than statutory superannuation.

The Company has adopted a Security Trading Policy that is 
intended to explain the types of conduct in relation to dealing 
in securities that are prohibited under the Corporations Act and 
establish a best practice procedure for the buying and selling of 
securities that protects Invigor’s directors, officers, employees 
and management against the misuse of unpublished information 
that could materially affect the value of securities.

The Security Trading Policy sets out restrictions that apply to 
dealing with securities and defines “prohibited periods” during 
which Applicable Persons, are unable to deal in Invigor securities. 

In all instances, buying or selling of shares is not permitted at any 
time by any person who possesses price – sensitive information. 
The Security Trading Policy is available on the Company website.

The Company’s Security Trading Policy provides that Applicable 
Persons must not enter into any transaction that operate to 
limit the economic risk associated with holding securities in the 
Company.

Approved by the Board on 26 March 2019
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The Directors present their report together with the financial report 
of the Consolidated Entity comprising Invigor Group Limited (“the 
Company” or “Invigor”) and its controlled entities (together “the 
Consolidated Entity”) for the financial year ended 31 December 
2018 and the Auditor’s report thereon.

Directors

The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end 
of the reporting period were:

Directors Appointed

Gary Cohen 19 July 2012
Roger Clifford 18 November 2015
Gregory Cohen 19 July 2012
Jeremy Morgan 2 March 2016
Robert McKinnon (Chairman) 3 July 2017

Jack Hanrahan 3 July 2017
Claire Mula 3 July 2017

Details of the experience and qualifications of directors in office at 
the date of this report are:

Robert (Bob) McKinnon

Chairman and Non-Executive Director 
Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting/Finance/Systems), Chartered 
Accountant

Bob McKinnon brings more than 40 years of business, 
governance, finance and technology experience to Invigor. 
Having previously held CEO, COO, CFO and CIO roles in major 
companies in the retail and wholesale financial services, property 
and technology sectors, Bob remains actively immersed in the 
technology, innovation and digital economy space. He currently 
sits on a number of boards, both listed and unlisted, in the 
technology and financial services sector.

Bob’s previous experience includes holding Group Executive, 
Technology and CIO roles with both Westpac Banking Group 
and Commonwealth Bank of Australia. Outside the technology 
sector, Bob’s senior executive and board roles have included 
Non-Executive Director and Audit Committee Chair of Alesco 
Corporation, Joint MD and CFO of Brookfield Multiplex Group, 
COO and CFO of MLC Group, and CFO of Lend Lease 
Corporation.

Other listed company directorships in the past 3 years: Finzsoft 
Solutions Limited (listed on NZX) – December 2018 to current

Gary Cohen

Chief Executive Officer 
Masters of Laws (Honours 2nd), Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor 
of Commerce

Gary Cohen has extensive experience in the information 
technology industry. Gary was Executive Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of iSOFT Group Limited, an ASX listed company, 
from 1999 until 2010. Together with Brian Cohen, Gary built 
iSOFT into one of Australia’s largest technology companies with 
operations in over 40 countries. Gary is the principal of the Marcel 
Equity group which is an investor in technology businesses. Gary 
was previously a leading legal practitioner and a principal of an 
Australian investment bank. 

Gary has the diverse expertise and experience required 
to execute growth strategies for information technology 
focused businesses and has a proven track record of building 
management teams, strengthening customer relationships and 
developing ties with stakeholders.

Other listed company directorships in the past 3 years:

MPower Group Limited (formerly known as TAG Pacific Limited) – 
1999 to current

Roger Clifford

Non-Executive Director

Roger Clifford has over forty years’ experience in Australia and 
Internationally in sales and operations, including end-to-end 
management of supply chains, sales activities, sourcing and 
customer relations. Roger is active in community service and co-
founded a prominent organisation providing crisis care services 
for the broader Sydney community.

Other listed company directorships in the past 3 years: None

Gregory Cohen

Chief Financial Officer 
Bachelor of Commerce (Marketing)

Greg has an extensive international background in financial 
services and general management gained from a 27-year 
career with Ford Credit, the captive financing arm of Ford Motor 
Company. Greg brings to Invigor his significant expertise in the 
financial services sector and operational market experience in 
Australia, Europe, South East Asia, India and China.

Other listed company directorships in the past 3 years: None

Jeremy Morgan

Non-Executive Director 
Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor of Law

Jeremy Morgan is a seasoned corporate development executive 
with over 20 years’ experience in value creation for companies 
through advisory and leading strategic initiatives. He has advised 
numerous Australian and international companies on their 
inorganic growth strategies in Australia, New Zealand, USA, UK 
and South-East Asia. Jeremy is a director of a private investment 
and advisory firm where he specialises in the technology, digital 
media and telecommunications sectors. Jeremy practiced law 
with an international firm in the early part of his career.

Other listed company directorships in the past 3 years: None

Jack Hanrahan

Non-Executive Director 
Masters of Business (Management)

Jack Hanrahan has over 30 years of retail industry experience 
and a deep understanding of retail trends, technologies and 
strategies as well as a network of local and international contacts. 
He is a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed company The Reject 
Shop. He has previously been General Manager of Retailer 
Relations at Scentre Group Limited, an ASX listed company and 
owner of the Westfield brand in Australia and New Zealand. He 
is also on the Board of World Skills Australia; an organisation 
devoted to the development of skills within young Australians.

Previously, Jack served in a variety of Senior Executive roles in 
both public and private retail companies, with roles including 
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General Manager of Vodafone Australia and CEO of Aquareuse 
(Aust) Limited, an unlisted public company.

Other listed company directorships in the past 3 years: 

The Reject Shop – December 2018 to current

Claire Mula

Chief Operating Officer 
Bachelor of Commerce and Masters of International Business

Claire Mula has over 22 years of Commercial, Product and 
General Management experience in Digital Marketing, Media 
and FMCG and was co-founder and Executive Director of Invigor 
Asia Pte Limited (previously Sprooki), a company that provided 
data-driven engagement and loyalty solutions for APAC major 
retailers, brands and shopping malls. Prior to founding Sprooki, 
Claire held a number of management roles within large, blue-
chip digital companies and dynamic start-ups alike including 
General Manager, Multimedia Interactive Technologies for ASTRO 
(Malaysia), one of Asia’s largest broadcasters, overseeing all 
Internet, mobile and Interactive TV products & services.

Claire has also held Senior Marketing and Product Development 
roles for Australia’s premier publisher, Fairfax Digital Media, 
publisher of the Sydney Morning Herald, The Age and the 

Australian Financial Review (Australia) and Brand Management 
roles within FMCG retail marketing giant, Procter & Gamble 
(Europe).

Other listed company directorships in the past 3 years: None

Company Secretary

Leanne Ralph – resigned 30 January 2019

Bachelor of Business majoring in Accounting and Finance

Julian Rockett – appointed 30 January 2019 

Bachelor of Arts, and Bachelor of Laws

Julian Rockett’s background is as a Corporate Lawyer and 
Company Secretary. His legal background includes advising on 
IPOs, M&A, RTOs and capital raising for ASX listed companies. 
His corporate secretarial experience for ASX companies includes 
representing fin-tech, artificial intelligence, medical technology, 
logistics, equity, resources, mining, building, energy as well as 
media. 

Environmental Regulation and Performance

The Consolidated Entity is not subject to any particular 
or significant environmental regulations under the laws of 
jurisdictions in which it operates.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity is a B2B data 
intelligence and solutions company that turns data analytics into 
dollars for the retail and service industries. Invigor’s products 
include Loyalty, Pricing and Skyware (TillerStack). Refer to the 
Operating and Financial Review section for more details. Invigor’s 
innovation in owned retail platforms and unique cross-channel 
data ecosystem allows businesses to have a holistic view of their 
customers and competitive landscape to not only understand, but 
effectively engage with today’s physical and digital consumers. 
Combined with proprietary data and predictive engines, Invigor 
Group provides strategic insights and recommendations that 
empower businesses to successfully influence future customer 
strategy and increase long-term profitability.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs

The Company has continued operating as a B2B data intelligence 
and solutions group during the financial period. The business 
activities have been funded by the raising of new equity and 
drawing on available debt facilities. Details are provided 
throughout this Directors’ Report. 

Condat AG

On 7 May 2018 the Consolidated Entity sold 100% of the issued 
share capital of its German operating subsidiary Condat AG 
(“Condat”). Prior to the sale, certain assets of Condat AG 
relating to the Field Force Management solution (Skyware) were 
transferred to another subsidiary of the Company (TillerStack 
GmbH, previously Invigor Germany (Holdings) GmbH). The 
financial results of Condat for the period have been presented as 
a Discontinued Operation in the financial report. 

There were no other significant changes in the affairs of the 
Consolidated Entity during the financial period.

Director Meetings

The number of Board meetings held and the number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the 
financial year were:

Directors Board Meetings
Audit & Risk Committee 

Meetings
Remuneration Committee 

Meetings

A B A B A B
Gary Cohen 15 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Roger Clifford 15 13 n/a n/a 01 01

Gregory Cohen 15 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Jeremy Morgan 15 15 4 4 n/a n/a 
Robert McKinnon 15 15 4 4 n/a n/a 
Jack Hanrahan 15 14 n/a n/a 01 01

Claire Mula 15 14 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

A - Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the period.
B - Number of meetings attended.
n/a – not applicable.
1 The Board as a whole considered Remuneration and Nomination matters during the reporting period.
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Operating and Financial Review

Result for the period

The net loss after tax of the Consolidated Entity for the year ended 
31 December 2018 was $12,334,000

(31 December 2017 - $13,150,000 loss). This loss includes a 
loss of $8,650,000 (2017: $13,685,000 loss) from continuing 
operations.

The result for 2018 reflects:

• Revenue from sales, licence fees and services from 
continuing operations from the core Loyalty and Pricing 
divisions for the period of approximately $1,251,000, up 74% 
on the $721,000 booked in 2017;

• $1,066,000 of revenue from TillerStack Field Force 
Management (‘TillerStack’) from 1 May 2018;

• Other income including R&D tax rebates of $1.1 million (2017: 
$1.2 million);

• A net loss before financing costs, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment (EBITDAI) from continuing 
operations of $4.0 million (2017: $4.3 million loss); 

• $1.5 million additional amortisation charge following a review 
of the useful life of software and capitalised development 
intangible assets from 5 years to 3 years;

• A one-off loss from discontinued operations (Condat AG sold 
on 7 May 2018) of $3.7 million including transaction costs 
(2017: profit of $0.5 million);

• Interest and borrowing costs incurred on convertible note 
and debt facilities of $1.1 million, excluding discontinued 
operations (2017: $1.0 million).

Product offering

Loyalty 

Invigor’s Loyalty solution uses complex data sets (such as 
transaction, customer and competitive pricing and promotion 
data) and artificial intelligence to provide strategic insights and 
loyalty solutions to commerce based business, improving key 
drivers of sales, profit and customer value. 

Loyalty has a range of products that help B2C businesses 
understand their customers and influence their journeys, 
spend and lifetime value. Invigor works with Partners such as 
payments providers to deliver Loyalty solutions to Merchants 
as a value-added premium service.  Loyalty products include: 
Visitor, Campaign & Rewards, Shopper Insights and Payment 
Partnerships.   

Pricing

Invigor’s Pricing solution provides visibility into competitor’s 
pricing and promotions to help customers develop successful 
strategies and make better repricing and investment decisions 
that improve sales, volume and margin. Invigor is able to deliver 
near real-time data at a granular product level through a variety 
of tools which include dashboards, alerts, reports, data feeds to 
consumer brands, retailers, government organisations and data 
partners. 

In partnership with Neal Analytics, a Microsoft Gold Partner, 
Invigor is delivers sophisticated models and predictive 
recommendations to optimise promotional effectiveness and 
product assortment.

TillerStack | Skyware

Invigor currently operates an established integrated field force 
management solution for companies with mobile staff in service 
and maintenance. This solution is known as Skyware. 

Skyware allows companies to seamlessly manage their mobile 
workforce. It optimises technical, field workflow, increases 
customer satisfaction through AI and provides dispatchers and 
mobile workers with an intuitive interface for all directives. 

Review of the year

In 2018, Invigor established a strong foundation for growth for 
future years, with the platform now in place to capitalise on the 
opportunities available in the Asian payments and loyalty sector 
with WeChat Pay, and with the wider deployment of its market-
leading Pricing, Loyalty and Insights technology. The technology 
underpinning our core operations has been the key catalyst to 
establish the Winning Group partnership with WeChat Pay and 
expanding our Loyalty offering in Asia. This is a major opportunity 
for Invigor.  

Further, the TillerStack business which was previously part of 
Condat has continuedcontinued to improve performance following 
the sale of Condat in May 2018. This spresents a future value 
creation channel for shareholders.  

Reduction in debt

In 2018, the Company strengthened the balance sheet through 
the reduction of debt and raising of equity. This included:

• 35% total reduction in debt - total debt reduced by $3.9 
million or 35% from $11.1 million to $7.2 million;

• 54% reduction debt after excluding related party debt of $2.6 
million; 

• Condat sale proceeds of $2.7 million used to retire debt of 
$2.4 million, in addition to the reduction of $1.7 million Condat 
debt disposed on sale; and

• New capital raised – total of $7.4 million of new shares issued, 
including conversion of $3.79 million of convertible notes and 
$1 million from exercise of options (see below).

Shares issued and exercise of options

To assist in the funding of growth, repayment of debts and 
working capital, a total of 1,580,839,581 ordinary shares of the 
Company were issued in the year ended 31 December 2018. This 
included 141,888,571 on the exercise of options. At 31 December 
2018, there were a total of 190,433,325 (2017: 67,485,528) 
unlisted options (including incentive options). The total number of 
fully paid shares on issue at 31 December 2018 is 2,537,559,895 
(2017: 956,720,314). 

On 15 January 2019, 55,955,581 ordinary shares were issued 
on the conclusion of a Share Purchase Plan completed by the 
Company. A total of $251,800 cash was received, including 
$236,800 received before period end.  

On 29 March 2019, the Company issued 872,086 ordinary shares 
as a final adjustment to the Invigor Asia Pte Ltd (formerly Sprooki 
Pte Ltd) purchase price. The shares were issued at $0.015, with a 
total value of $13,081.

Dividends

No interim dividend for the 2018 financial year was proposed or 
declared. No final dividend for the 2017 financial year has been 
proposed or declared. A dividend reinvestment plan has not been 
activated.

Directors’ interests

The relevant interests of each Director, including their personally 
related entities, in the equity of the Company at the date of this 
report are disclosed in the Remuneration Report. 
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Remuneration Report

The Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out on page 17 and forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Share options

(a) Options granted under incentive plans

The Company provides benefits to defined employees of the Consolidated Entity (including executive directors) in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or options over shares. Approved incentive 
plans for the granting of options to defined employees (including executive directors) (“Plans”) are in place. At 31 December 2018, 
there were 173,183,325 options on issue under the Plans (2017 – 42,235,528). Options on issue under the Plans may have varying 
vesting dates. All options on issue under the Plans at 31 December 2018 expire 5 years from the applicable grant date.

The Company did not issue any ordinary shares to participants in the Plans during the year ended 31 December 2018 upon exercise 
of Incentive options as no previously granted options were exercised. The issue of shares upon the exercise of options will be 
governed by the terms of the relevant plan.

Date 
options 
granted

Expiry 
Date

Exercise 
price

Balance at 
1 January 

2018

Issued 
during the 

period

Cancelled 
or Lapsed 
during the 

period

Exercised 
during the 

period

Balance at 
the date of 
this report 

Exercisable 
at the date 

of this 
report

$ # # # # # #

2-Jul-13 22-Jul-18 0.10 7,198,855 0 (7,198,855) 0 0 0
24-Dec-13 24-Dec-18 0.10 270,015 0 (270,015) 0 0 0
17-Sep-14 17-Sep-19 0.10 3,283,328 0 0 0 3,283,328 3,283,328
26-Mar-15 26-Mar-20 0.10 3,166,665 0 0 0 3,166,665 3,166,665

1-Jul-15 1-Jul-20 0.10 6,583,333 0 0 0 6,583,333 6,583,333
29-Jul-15 29-Jul-20 0.10 416,667 0 0 0 416,667 416,667
1-Dec-15 1-Dec-20 0.10 416,665 0 0 0 416,665 416,665
12-Jul-16 12-Jul-21 0.05 2,500,000 0 0 0 2,500,000 2,500,000

20-May-17 20-May-22 0.05 7,900,000 0 (2,083,333) 0 5,816,667 2,050,000
22-Jun-17 22-Jun-22 0.03 1,000,000 0 0 0 1,000,000 333,334

3-Jul-17 3-Jul-22 0.05 2,000,000 0 0 0 2,000,000 666,667
1-Aug-17 1-Aug-22 0.05 7,500,000 0 (5,250,000) 0 2,250,000 750,000
3-Apr-18 3-Apr-23 0.05 0 750,000 0 0 750,000 0
4-Dec-18 4-Dec-23 0.01 0 145,000,000 0 0 145,000,000 0

Total   42,235,528 145,750,000 (14,802,203) 0 173,183,325 20,166,659

(b) Other Options

The Company has granted options over shares (“Other Options”) as part of fee arrangements for capital markets and other services; to 
non-executive Directors; and to sophisticated investors as detailed in the table below. 

Entitlement – one fully paid ordinary share in the Company for each Other Option exercised. There are no vesting or exercise 
conditions.

During the period, 141,888,571 ordinary shares were issued on exercise of options.

Date 
options 
granted

Expiry 
Date

Exercise 
price

Balance at 
1 January 

2018

Issued 
during the 

period

Cancelled 
or Lapsed 
during the 

period

Exercised 
during the 

period

Balance at 
the date of 
this report 

Exercisable 
at the date 

of this 
report

$ # # # # # #

18-Aug-14 5-Aug-19 0.10 5,000,000 0 0 0 5,000,000 5,000,000
1-May-15 1-May-18 0.10 5,000,000 0 (5,000,000) 0 0 0
14-Jul-15 16-Jul-18 0.10 3,000,000 0 (3,000,000) 0 0 0

17-Jun-16 17-Jun-21 0.10 750,000 0 0 0 750,000 750,000
17-Jun-16 17-Jun-19 0.045 10,000,000 0 0 0 10,000,000 10,000,000
19-Apr-17 19-Apr-22 0.05 750,000 0 0 0 750,000 750,000

5-Jul-17 5-Jul-22 0.03 500,000 0 0 0 500,000 166,667
5-Jul-17 5-Jul-22 0.05 250,000 0 0 0 250,000 83,333

28-Feb-18 31-Mar-18 0.007 0 169,424,287 (27,535,716) (141,888,571) 0 0
30-Nov-18 28-Dec-18 0.006 0 50,000,000 (50,000,000) 0 0 0

Total   25,250,000 219,424,287 (85,535,716) (141,888,571) 17,250,000 16,750,000
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Indemnification and Insurance of Officers

The Company’s Constitution provides that the Company may 
indemnify any current or former Director, Secretary or executive 
officer of the Company or of a subsidiary of the Company out of 
the property of the Company against every liability incurred by 
a person in that capacity (except a liability for legal costs) and 
against all legal costs incurred in defending proceedings, whether 
civil or criminal or of an administrative or investigatory nature, in 
which the person becomes involved because of that capacity.

In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, 
the Company has a Directors and Officers Liability policy which 
covers all past, present or future Directors, secretaries and 
executive officers of the Company and its controlled entities.  The 
terms of the policy specifically prohibit disclosure of details of the 
amount of the insurance cover and the premium paid.

The indemnification and insurances are limited to the extent 
permitted by law.

Events subsequent to reporting date

On 15 January 2019, 55,955,581 ordinary shares were issued 
on the conclusion of a Share Purchase Plan completed by the 
Company. A total of $251,800 cash was received, including 
$236,800 received before period end.  

As per note 14, $0.5 million of the PFG loan was repaid on 28 
February 2019. The repayment date of the balance of A$1.5 
million has been extended to 30 June 2019 with A$0.25 million 
repayable in April 2019, and interest to accrue at 12% pa.

On 2 January 2019, $116,667 of the $350,000 loan facility was 
repaid.

On 27 February 2019 the Company secured a $1 million loan 
facility which will be used for funding of working capital and part 
repayment of other loan facilities. 

On 29 March 2019, the Company received a commitment for a 
$0.5 million share placement at $0.004 to a sophisticated investor. 
The Company expects to issue 125 million ordinary shares in early 
April 2019. An additional 25 million unlisted options, expiring in 12 
months at $0.004 will be also be issued to the investor.

On 29 March 2019, the Company also received a commitment 
for a $0.5 million convertible note from a sophisticated investor. 
The convertible note will be for 12 months at $0.005, and will be 
finalised in April 2019.

On 29 March 2019, the Company issued 872,086 ordinary shares 
as a final adjustment to the Invigor Asia Pte Ltd (formerly Sprooki 
Pte Ltd) purchase price. The shares were issued at $0.015, with a 
total value of $13,081. 

The directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance 
that has occurred since the end of the financial period that has 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations 
of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the 
state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial 
periods.

Likely Developments and Prospects

The Company is looking to integrate its Shopper Insights 
and Loyalty products into fast growing fintech and payment 
platforms. This, together with the growth of the Pricing product, 
will significantly underpin the revenue growth over the next 12 
months.

Audit and Non-Audit Services

Fees paid or payable by the Consolidated Entity for services 
provided by the Company’s auditor, Moore Stephens during the 
year were:

2018 
$

2017 
$

Audit services 79,052 77,087

Other services - -

79,052 77,087

  

Fees paid or payable by the Consolidated Entity for services 
provided by other audit firms during the year were:

Audit services 37,551 129,194

Other services 25,365 52,358

62,916 181,552

Total 141,968 258,639

  

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during 
the year by the audit firms and is satisfied that the provision of 
those non-audit services is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001, and did not compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, for the following 
reasons:

• all non-audit services were subject to the corporate 
governance procedures adopted by the Company and have 
been reviewed by the Board to ensure they do not impact the 
integrity and objectivity of the auditor.

• the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general 
principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES110 – Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as 
they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own 
work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity 
for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or 
jointly sharing risks and rewards.

Lead auditor’s independence declaration under Section 307C 
of the Corporations Act 2001

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 
22 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 
December 2018.

Rounding off

In accordance with the Australian and Securities Investments 
Commissions Corporation (Rounding in Financial/Directors 
Reports) Instrument 2016/191, amounts in the financial report and 
Directors’ Report are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
unless otherwise stated. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors.

 

Bob McKinnon   Gary Cohen  
Chairman    Director and CEO  
     

Dated at Sydney this 29th day of March 2019  

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Principles used to determine the nature and amount of 
remuneration

The Board (or the Remuneration Committee as charged by the 
Board) is responsible for designing and reviewing remuneration 
policies that align the remuneration of executives with the interests 
of shareholders. Remuneration packages for key management 
personnel are set to properly reflect an executive’s duties and 
responsibilities and to be competitive in attracting, retaining 
and motivating appropriately qualified and experienced people 
capable of managing the Company’s operations and achieving 
the Company’s business objectives. Remuneration arrangements 
are reviewed annually having regard to various factors, including 
key performance objectives, an appraisal process and relevant 
comparative information. In 2018, the Company implemented 
a revised Performance Goals and Review process for all staff. 
Independent expert advice on remuneration packages will be 
obtained if considered necessary with appropriate protocols put 
in place so that recommendations will be free from any undue 
influence by key management personnel.

In addition to fixed remuneration, represented by a base 
salary and employer contributions to superannuation funds, 
remuneration packages may also include:

• cash bonuses linked to the achievement of agreed individual 
performance objectives and/or the overall performance of the 
Company;

• participation in formally documented long-term incentive 
plans;

• termination entitlements; and

• fringe benefits.

Remuneration arrangements and other terms of employment are 
documented in service agreements or letters of employment.

Company performance 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations ($’000) (8,650) (13,685) (6,775) (3,110) (4,127)

Profit (loss) attributable to the owners of the Company ($’000) (12,334) (13,150) (6,775) (3,110) (4,127)

Basic earnings (loss) per share (cents) (0.93) (2.16) (1.68) (1.19) (3.01)

Dividends per share nil nil nil nil nil

Share price – closing at balance date ($) 0.004 0.014 0.016 0.050 0.089

Long term incentive plans

The Company provides benefits to defined employees of the 
Consolidated Entity (including executive directors) in the form of 
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render 
services in exchange for shares or options over shares.

Formal incentive plans for the granting of options to defined 
employees (“Plans”) are in place. The purpose of the Plans 
is to provide participants with an incentive to remain with 
the Consolidated Entity and work to improve the longer-term 
performance of the Company and its returns to shareholders. 
The rules of the Plans have been approved by shareholders 
and were last approved at the Annual General Meeting held 
in June 2017. The Plans are open to Executive Directors and 
senior management personnel under the same qualification 
criteria as other employees. The terms of any options granted are 
determined by the directors in accordance with the rules of the 
Plans.

Non-executive directors

Fees for services provided by non-executive directors are paid 
in cash. Fees for non-executive directors are determined by 
the Board and reviewed annually within the maximum amount 
approved by shareholders. The maximum amount currently 
stands at $400,000 per annum in aggregate for all non-executive 
directors of the Company. Non-executive directors do not 
participate in performance-based plans unless these have been 
approved by shareholders. The Company does not use options 
as a means to remunerate non-executive directors unless the 
granting of such options has been approved by shareholders.

Non-executive director fees have been set at $25,000 per annum 
each since July 2012. The non-executive Chairman’s fees have 
been set at $54,750 from July 2017. Directors who are members 
of the Audit & Risk Committee or Remuneration Committee do not 
receive additional fees. 

REMUNERATION REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Remuneration Report - Audited
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Key Management Personnel (KMP) remuneration (Company and Consolidated)

Short Term
Post- 

Employment
Other Long 

Term Share based

Year ended 31 
December 2018

Cash salary, 
fees and 

compensated 
absences

Cash 
Bonus

Non-cash 
benefits

Super-
annuation

Long Service 
Leave

Options and 
Shares Total

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Directors

Roger Clifford 25,000 - - - - - 25,000 -

Gary Cohen 305,769 - - 20,290 - 40,108 366,167 -

Gregory Cohen 270,506 - - - - 19,400 289,906 -

Jeremy Morgan 25,000 - - - - - 25,000 -

Bob McKinnon 54,750 - - - - 1,350 56,100 -

Jack Hanrahan 27,375 - - - - 583 27,958 -

Claire Mula 205,922 - - 19,262 - 7,500 232,684 -

Executives1

Michael Stone 203,305 - - 18,276 5,704 5,133 232,418 -

Leslie Cohen2 180,376 - - 13,441 - 5,133 198,950 -

Total 1,298,003 - - 71,269 5,704 79,207 1,454,183

1 Christof Peltason ceased to be KMP from 1 January 2018
2 KMP, Executive (Commercial Director and CEO, TillerStack) from 1 January 2018

Short Term
Post- 

Employment
Other Long 

Term Share based

Year ended 31 
December 2017

Cash salary, 
fees and 

compensated 
absences

Cash 
Bonus

Non-cash 
benefits

Super-
annuation

Long Service 
Leave

Options and 
Shares Total

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Directors

Roger Clifford 25,000 - - - - 1,775 26,775 -

Gary Cohen 300,000 - - 19,570 - 74,550 394,120 -

Gregory Cohen 269,616 - - - - 33,133 302,749 -

John Hayson1 - - - - - - - -

Jeremy Morgan 25,000 - - - - 1,775 26,775 -

Anthony Sherlock2 24,458 - - 542 - 1,775 26,775 -

Bob McKinnon3 27,163 - - - - 675 27,838 -

Jack Hanrahan4 13,688 - - - - 292 13,980 -

Claire Mula5 128,791 - - 9,500 - 2,333 140,624 -

Executives7

Christof Peltason 226,543 - - 31,788 - - 258,331 -

Michael Stone6 192,568 - - 17,182 - 12,338 222,088 -

Total 1,232,827 - - 78,582 - 128,646 1,440,055

1 John Hayson had previously waived his entitlement to directors’ fees, and retired as a Director on 3 July 2017
2 Deceased 7 December 2017
3 Chairman and Non-executive Director from 3 July 2017
4 Non-executive Director from 3 July 2017
5 KMP, COO from 1 May 2017, and Executive Director from 3 July 2017
6 KMP, Executive (Director of Products) from 1 January 2017
7 Preethi Narayanan ceased to be KMP from 1 January 2017

REMUNERATION REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Directors’ interests

The movement in the number of securities and interests in securities of the Company held during the financial year by directors who 
hold or held office during the financial year, including their personally related entities, are set out below.

Ordinary shares

Balance at 
1 January 

2018 
#

Purchases 
#

Transfers in 
(out) upon 
becoming 

(ceasing to be) 
a director 

#

Balance at 
31 December 

2018 
#

Net purchased 
from 31 Dec 

2018 to date of 
this report 

#

Balance at the 
date of this 

report 
#

Roger Clifford 3,750,000 7,559,524 - 11,309,524 - 11,309,524

Gary Cohen 24,988,951 343,295,108 - 368,284,059 - 368,284,059

Gregory Cohen 26,324,232 10,714,286 - 37,038,518 - 37,038,518

Jeremy Morgan - 6,547,619 - 6,547,619 - 6,547,619

Bob McKinnon 787,503 10,714,286 - 11,501,789 3,315 11,505,104

Jack Hanrahan 590,627 2,678,571 - 3,269,198 2,487 3,271,685

Claire Mula 36,448,942 5,357,143 - 41,806,085 153,847 41,959,932

Options granted to key management personnel

Incentive Option plan

The Company provides benefits to defined employees of the Consolidated Entity (including executive directors) in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or options over shares in the Company. 
Approved incentive plans for the granting of options to defined employees (including executive directors) (“Plans”) are in place. At 31 
December 2018, there were 173,183,325 options on issue under the Plans (2017 – 42,235,528). Options on issue under the Plans may 
have varying vesting dates. All options on issue under the Plans at 31 December 2018 expire 5 years from the applicable grant date.

The Company did not issue any ordinary shares to participants in the Plans during the year ended 31 December 2018 upon exercise 
of Incentive Options as no previously granted options were exercised. The issue of shares upon the exercise of options will be 
governed by the terms of the relevant plan.  

A share-based payment expense of $107,000 (2017 - $256,000) was recognised during the year for incentive options of which $77,274 
related to incentive options granted to key management personnel (2017 - $122,354). 

Terms of Issue

Exercise price: Options issued to KMP in 2013 and 2015; 10.0 cents per option, Options issued in 2017; 5.0 cents per option, Options 
issued in 2018; 1.0 cent per option.

Issue date: Options issued to KMP in 2018 were issued on 4 December 2018.

Vesting period: For the majority of options, one-third of the options granted to each recipient will vest on each anniversary of the grant 
or issue date provided the recipient remains employed by the Company or continues to provide executive services. Some options on 
issue under the Plans may have varying vesting dates.

Exercise period: The options will be exercisable at any time commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending (expiring) on the 
5th anniversary of the date of grant or issue of the options.

Fair values: Options issued in 2018 to KMP (Gary Cohen, Gregory Cohen, Claire Mula, Michael Stone and Leslie Cohen) have a grant 
date fair value of 0.51 cents per option.

Details of the number of incentive options granted to key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity, including their personally 
related entities, during the financial year and the balance held at the end of the financial year are set out below.
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Incentive Plan Options

Balance at 
1 January 

2018

#

Granted 
during the 

financial 
year

#

Lapsed/ 
Cancelled 
during the 

financial 
year

#

Transfers in 
/ (Transfers 

out)1

#

Balance 
at 31 

December 
2018

#

Vested 
during the 

financial 
year

#

Vested and 
exercisable 

at 31 
December 

2018

#

Directors

Roger Clifford - - - - - - -
Gary Cohen2 8,999,284 20,000,000 (4,499,284) - 24,500,000 1,500,000 4,500,000
Gregory Cohen3 2,899,857 20,000,000 (899,857) - 22,000,000 666,667 2,000,000
Jeremy Morgan - - - - - - -
Bob McKinnon - - - - - - -
Jack Hanrahan - - - - - - -
Claire Mula 2,000,000 20,000,000 - - 22,000,000 666,667 666,667
Executives4

Michael Stone 1,250,000 20,000,000 - - 21,250,000 250,000 750,000
Leslie Cohen5 - 20,000,000 - 1,083,333 21,083,333 250,000 583,333

1 Transfers in upon becoming a director/KMP Executive or transfers out upon ceasing to be a director/KMP Executive
2 4,499,284 options lapsed in 2018 were issued on 22 July 2013, and expired on 22 July 2018
3 899,857 options lapsed in 2018 were issued on 22 July 2013, and expired on 22 July 2018
4 Christof Peltason ceased to be a KMP from 1 January 2018 
5 KMP, Executive (Commercial Director and CEO, TillerStack) from 1 January 2018

2017

Incentive Plan Options

Balance at 
1 January 

2017

#

Granted 
during the 

financial 
year

#

Lapsed/ 
Cancelled 
during the 

financial 
year

#

Transfers in 
/ (Transfers 

out)1

#

Balance 
at 31 

December 
2017

#

Vested 
during the 

financial 
year

#

Vested and 
exercisable 

at 31 
December 

2017

#

Directors

Roger Clifford - - - - - - -
Gary Cohen 8,999,284 - - - 8,999,284 1,500,000 7,499,284
Gregory Cohen 2,899,857 - - - 2,899,857 666,667 2,233,191
John Hayson2 - - - - - - -
Jeremy Morgan - - - - - - -
Anthony Sherlock3 - - - - - - -
Bob McKinnon4 - - - - - - -
Jack Hanrahan5 - - - - - - -
Claire Mula6 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - -
Executives

Preethi Narayanan7 750,000 - - (750,000) - - -
Michael Stone8 - 750,000 (250,000) 750,000 1,250,000 250,000 500,000
Christof Peltason - - - - - - -

1 Transfers in upon becoming a director/KMP Executive or transfers out upon ceasing to be a director/KMP Executive.
2 John Hayson retired as Director on 3 July 2017
3 Deceased 7 December 2017
4 Chairman and Non-executive Director from 3 July 2017
5 Non-executive Director from 3 July 2017
6 COO from 1 May 2017, and Executive Director from 3 July 2017
7 Preethi Narayanan ceased to be KMP from 1 January 2017
8 KMP, Executive (Director of Products) from 1 January 2017

Other Option plan

The Company also provides other option entitlements to non-executive directors. All grants are in accordance with terms approved by 
shareholders. 1,750,000 other options were held by non-executive directors at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017 – 1,750,000). A 
share-based payment expense of $1,933 was recognised in the year (31 December 2017 - $6,292).
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On 28 February 2018, the Company granted 169,424,287 options to sophisticated investors, including KMP, as part of the capital 
raising completed in December 2017, and pursuant to terms approved by shareholders on 27 February 2018. The options had an 
exercise price of $0.007, and an expiry of 31 March 2018. A total of 141,888,571 ordinary shares were issued on exercise of these 
options in March 2018, and the balance of options lapsed on expiry.  

Other Options

Balance at 
1 January 

2018

#

Granted 
during the 

financial 
year1

#

Exercised 
during the 

financial 
year

#

Lapsed/ 
cancelled 

during the 
financial 

year

#

Balance 
at 31 

December 
2018

#

Vested 
during the 

financial 
year

#

Vested and 
exercisable 

at 31 
December 

2018

#

Roger Clifford2 500,000 3,779,762 (3,779,762) - 500,000 3,779,762 500,000
Gary Cohen - 3,571,429 (3,571,429) - - 3,571,429 -
Gregory Cohen - 3,571,429 (3,571,429) - - 3,571,429 -
Jeremy Morgan2 500,000 3,273,809 (3,273,809) - 500,000 3,273,809 500,000
Bob McKinnon 500,000 3,571,428 (3,571,428) - 500,000 3,738,095 166,667
Jack Hanrahan 250,000 892,857 (892,857) - 250,000 976,190 83,333
Claire Mula - 1,785,714 (1,785,714) - - 1,785,714 -

1 Options issued to key management personnel including non-executive directors in February 2018 represent transactions with shareholders and therefore 
no share-based payment expense was recognised in relation to these grants. 
2 Options granted in 2018 for Roger Clifford and Jeremy Morgan were exercised by unrelated nominated parties

Employment arrangements for executive key management personnel

The executive key management personnel during 2018 were:

Gary Cohen Chief Executive Officer 

Gregory Cohen Executive Director – Chief Financial Officer

Claire Mula Executive Director - Chief Operating Officer  

Michael Stone Director of Product 

Leslie Cohen Commercial Director, and CEO of TillerStack from 1 May 2018 (KMP from 1 January 2018)

The remuneration arrangements for each of these key management personnel during 2018 were:

• Employment agreements:

- Gary Cohen’s base remuneration was $300,000 per annum plus superannuation. The notice period for Gary Cohen is six 
months, and no termination payments are provided for under the employment agreement.

- Gregory Cohen’s base remuneration was $270,506 per annum. Gregory Cohen’s arrangements are in place via a consultancy 
agreement with a personally related entity. The notice period under this agreement is six months.

- Claire Mula’s base remuneration was $200,000 per annum plus superannuation. The notice period under this agreement is 
three months. 

- Michael Stone’s base remuneration was $190,000 per annum plus superannuation until 30 April 2018. From 1 May 2018, 
Michael Stone’s base remuneration increased to $200,000 per annum plus superannuation. The notice period under the 
employment agreement is one month.

- Leslie Cohen’s base remuneration was $140,000 per annum plus superannuation until 30 April 2018. From 1 May 2018, Leslie 
Cohen’s base remuneration increased to $180,000 per annum plus superannuation. The notice period under the employment 
agreement is one month.

• Entitlement to participate in long term incentive arrangements as detailed above.

• Short term bonus arrangements (“Bonus”). Bonus payments are discretionary and based on the Company being profitable. 
Bonuses will be calculated in accordance with the following principles:

- A Group Bonus Pool will be determined first on the Company reaching its Target EBITDA (“Target”).

- If EBITDA is less than 90% of the Target, the Group Bonus Pool will not be activated.

- If EBITDA is between 90% and 100% of the Target, the Bonus Pool will grow from 50% to 100% pro rata.

- If there is overachievement of the Target, an additional 33% Group Bonus Pool will be added pro rata up to a maximum Target 
of 150% overachievement.

- Generally, KMP will be entitled to 100% of their base remuneration (not including superannuation) for Over Target Earnings.

- If the Group Bonus Pool is not activated, then no KMP will be entitled to a Bonus.

- Bonuses will be paid in cash unless there is an election by the executive to receive up to 50% of the Bonus in shares in the 
Company.

No Bonuses were paid or are payable to key management personnel for the 2018 financial year (2017: nil).
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

 

 
 
 
 
 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
UNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001  
TO THE DIRECTORS OF INVIGOR GROUP LIMITED 
 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 31 December 2018, there have 
been: 
 
i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 

in relation to the audit; and 
 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

 
MOORE STEPHENS AUDIT (VIC) 
ABN 16 847 721 257 

 
ANDREW JOHNSON 
Partner 
Audit & Assurance Services 
 
Melbourne, Victoria 
 
29 March 2019 



023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes

Consolidated
31 December 2018

$’000

Consolidated
31 December 2017 

Restated1

$’000

Revenue 3 2,317 721

Other revenue/income 1,124 1,150

Total revenue/other income 3,441 1,871

Employee benefits expense 6(a) (4,109) (3,532)

Professional fees (1,128) (898)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 12 - (5,200)

Impairment of other financial assets - (1,750)

Other operating costs 6(b) (2,240) (1,642)

Profit/ (Loss) from Joint Venture 9 31 (47)

Profit/ (Loss) on non-current assets - (13)

Total profit (loss) before financing costs, tax, depreciation and amortisation (4,005) (11,211)

Depreciation and amortisation 11,12 (3,557) (1,447)

Total profit (loss) before financing costs and tax (7,562) (12,658)

Financing costs (1,088) (1,021)

Profit (loss) before income tax (8,650) (13,679)

Income tax benefit (expense) 7 - (6)

Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations (8,650) (13,685)

Discontinued operation

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 4 (3,684) 535

Profit (loss) of the period (12,334) (13,150)

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation reserve (139) (10)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the period (12,473) (13,160)

Earnings per share Cents Cents

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders 27 (0.93) (2.16)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders 27 (0.93) (2.16)

Earnings per share – continuing operations Cents Cents

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders 27 (0.65) (2.25)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders 27 (0.65) (2.25)

1 31 December 2017 balances have been restated to remove discontinued operations. Refer to note 4.                                       

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying note 
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Notes

Consolidated
31 December 2018

$’000

Consolidated
31 December 2017

$’000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 155 511

Trade and other receivables 8 964 1,952

Total Current Assets 1,119 2,463

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 11 11 80

Investments accounted for using the equity method 9 30 9

Intangible assets 12 6,015 14,814

Total Non-Current Assets 6,056 14,903

TOTAL ASSETS 7,175 17,366

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other creditors and accruals 13 2,281 2,427

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 14 7,227 8,816

Provisions 15 246 345

Total Current Liabilities 9,754 11,588

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 14 - 2,301

Provisions 15 8 21

Total Non-Current Liabilities 8 2,322

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,762 13,910

NET ASSETS (LIABILITIES) (2,587) 3,456

EQUITY

Issued capital 17 153,575 146,582

Reserves 19 2,762 3,464

Accumulated losses (158,924) (146,590)

TOTAL EQUITY (2,587) 3,456

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 31 December 2018
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Notes

Consolidated
31 December 20181

$’000

Consolidated
31 December 20171

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 4,337 8,332

Payments to suppliers and employees (10,496) (14,500)

Interest received 6 8

Other income received 1,099 1,150

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 28 (5,054) (5,010)

Cash flows from investing activities

Disposal of discontinued operations, net of cash disposed 4 2,379 -

Payments for property, plant and equipment - (5)

Payments for acquisition of investments (20) (59)

Proceeds from claims receivable 56 -

Net cash outflow upon acquisition of business operations, net of cash acquired - (60)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 2,415 (124)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 17 6,109 2,319

Proceeds for future share issues 19 237 646

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 1,000 3,860

Proceeds from borrowings 4,625 6,601

Borrowing costs paid (1,023) (1,043)

Repayment of borrowings (8,452) (7,347)

Capital raising costs paid (213) (33)

Net cash flow from (used in) financing activities 2,283 5,003

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (356) (131)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 511 642

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 155 511

1 Including discontinued operations, refer to note 4. 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Consolidated

Issued  

Capital

$’000

Accumulated 
Losses

$’000

Reserves

$’000

Total

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2018 146,582 (146,590) 3,464 3,456

Profit (loss) for the period - (12,334) - (12,334)

Foreign currency translation reserve - - (139) (139)

Total comprehensive income (loss) - (12,334) (139) (12,473)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Issue of shares 7,386 - - 7,386

Shares not yet issued reserve - - (672) (672)

Share based payments reserve - - 107 107

Options reserve - - 2 2

Capital raising costs reversed (incurred) (393) - - (393)

Balance at 31 December 2018 153,575 (158,924) 2,762 (2,587)

Balance at 1 January 2017 140,848 (133,440) 2,161 9,569

Profit (loss) for the period - (13,150) - (13,150)

Foreign currency translation reserve - - (10) (10)

Total comprehensive income (loss) - (13,150) (10) (13,160)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Issue of shares 5,893 - - 5,893

Shares not yet issued reserve - - 909 909

Share based payments reserve - - 256 256

Options reserve - - 148 148

Capital raising costs reversed (incurred) (159) - - (159)

Balance at 31 December 2017 146,582 (146,590) 3,464 3,456

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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1 Significant accounting policies
This general purpose consolidated financial report for the year 
ended 31 December 2018 comprises Invigor Group Limited 
(“the Company” or “Invigor”), its subsidiaries (together referred 
to as the “Consolidated Entity”) and the Consolidated Entity’s 
interests in associates and jointly controlled entities. The 
principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial report are set out below and have been 
consistently applied by each entity in the Consolidated Entity for 
all periods presented, unless otherwise stated. Refer to note 1(w) 
for details of new accounting policies adopted in the period.

Invigor Group Limited is a limited liability Company incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia.

(a) Statement of compliance

This financial report is a general purpose financial report which 
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASB) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
consolidated financial report of the Consolidated Entity complies 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board. The Company is a for-profit entity for the purpose of 
preparing the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis except for financial assets which are 
measured at fair value. The methods used to measure fair value 
are discussed further in Note 10.

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation for the current financial year when required by 
accounting standards, and to restate profit or loss items to remove 
discontinued operations (refer to Note 4). Where the Consolidated 
Entity has retrospectively applied an accounting policy, made 
a retrospective restatement of items in the financial statements 
or reclassified items in its financial statements, an additional 
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period will be disclosed.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency 
and the functional currency of the majority of the entities in the 
Consolidated Entity during the reporting period.

In accordance with the Australian and Securities Investments 
Commissions Corporation (Rounding in Financial/Directors 
Reports) Instrument 2016/191, values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars unless otherwise stated. Amounts less than $100 
are rounded to zero. 

(c) Preparation of financial statements on the going concern 
basis

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
the going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement 
of liabilities in the normal course of business.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 the Group incurred 
a net loss of $12.3m, of which $8.7m loss was from continuing 
operations, (2017: $13.2m loss of which $13.7m loss was from 
continuing operations), had net cash outflows from operating 
activities of $5.1m (2017: $5.0m), and at that date the Group’s 
current liabilities exceed its current assets by $8.6m (2017: 
$9.1m).

In determining that the going concern basis is appropriate, the 
directors have had regard to:

• The Company has embarked on a strategy to actively 
pursue additional strategic opportunities in the transactional 
payments market, as announced on February 28, 2019;

• Accordingly, the Company expects significant growth of 
transaction revenue streams from the provision of merchant 
services (e.g. transaction fees, loyalty programs and 
advertising commissions for payment platforms, including 
WeChat Pay), across our participating markets over the next 
few years; 

• It is the Company’s intention to undertake significant capital 
raisings to fund this growth and to capitalise on these 
strategic opportunities; 

• The consequential planned disposal of non-core assets as a 
result of this Strategy;

• Confirmation received in writing from the group’s related 
parties to extend the current terms of financing facilities 
available beyond the periods stated in the financial report. 
Marcel Equity has expressed strong support for the Company 
and has the ability to continue to support additional funding 
requirements in the near term;

• The expected continued repayment of debt due to the 
anticipated release of the balance of the Condat sale 
proceeds and the conversion of convertible notes due in May 
2019 ($1 million); and

• The ability to raise additional liquidity through current 
financing and re-financing negotiations for working capital 
and to repay current payables and borrowings as and 
when they are due and payable. Since 31 December 2018 
the Company has finalised $1.5 million of debt facilities, 
and received commitments for a further $0.5 million equity 
placement to assist in funding payment of current liabilities.

The Company’s ability to continue to operate as a going concern 
is dependent upon the items listed above. Should these events 
not occur as anticipated, the Company is unlikely be able to 
pursue its business objectives and will have difficulty continuing 
to operate as a going concern, including realising its assets and 
extinguishing its liabilities at the amounts shown in the financial 
statements.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses.  The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis of making judgements about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The Consolidated Entity makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are the measurement 
of Receivables (Note 8), Intangible assets (Note 12), Tax losses 
(Note 7) and Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 14).
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(e) Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements of Invigor Group Limited 
incorporate the assets and liabilities of all entities controlled by 
the Company as at 31 December 2018 and the results of all 
controlled entities for the year then ended.  Control exists when 
the Consolidated Entity has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from 
its activities.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that 
presently are exercisable are taken into account.  Where control 
of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are 
included in the consolidated income statement from the date on 
which control commences.  Where control of an entity ceases 
during a financial year its results are included for that part of the 
year during which control existed. 

Associates and jointly controlled entities

Associates are those entities in which the Consolidated Entity 
has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and 
operating policies.  Jointly controlled entities are those entities 
over whose activities the Consolidated Entity has joint control, 
established by contractual agreement. In the consolidated 
financial statements, investments in associates and jointly 
controlled entities are accounted for using either fair value 
through profit or loss or the equity method of accounting.

The Consolidated Entity’s investments in associates and jointly 
controlled entities include goodwill identified on acquisition net of 
impairment losses, if any.

Where the fair value through profit or loss method is applied, the 
carrying amount of investments in associates or jointly controlled 
entities is restated to the assessed fair value with changes 
recognised in the income statement. Such investments are 
classified as “Other financial assets” in the balance sheet.

Where the equity method is applied, the consolidated financial 
statements include the Consolidated Entity’s share of the total 
recognised gains and losses of associates or jointly controlled 
entities on an equity accounted basis, from the date that 
significant influence commences until the date that significant 
influence ceases. When the Consolidated Entity’s share of losses 
exceeds its interest in an associate or jointly controlled entity, 
the Consolidated Entity’s carrying amount is reduced to $nil and 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent 
that the Consolidated Entity has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate or jointly controlled entity.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

All intercompany balances, unrealised income and unrealised 
expenses arising from intra-group transactions, have been 
eliminated in full. 

Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the 
Consolidated Entity and its equity accounted investments are 
eliminated to the extent of the Consolidated Entity’s interest in 
those entities. 

Accounting policies of associates have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
Consolidated Entity.

(f) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items that 
are outstanding at reporting date are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate prevailing at that date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on translation are 
recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in 
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using 
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates the fair value was 
determined.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill 
and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated 
to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at balance 
date. 

The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated 
into Australian dollars at average exchange rates (unless this is 
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case revenues 
and expenses are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions). Any exchange differences arising on translation are 
taken directly to the Foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

Exchange differences arising from the translation of a net 
investment in foreign operations, and of related hedges, are taken 
to the Foreign currency translation reserve and are released 
into the income statement upon a disposal resulting in a loss of 
control.

(g) Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the Consolidated Entity is expected to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a 
customer. For each contract with a customer, the Consolidated 
Entity: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the 
performance obligations in the contract; determines the 
transaction price which takes into account estimate of variable 
consideration and the time value of money; allocates the 
transaction price to the separate performance obligations on 
the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct 
good or service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when 
or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that 
depicts the transfer to the customers of the goods or services 
promised. 

Licence subscription revenue 

Licence subscription revenue, which includes support services, 
is accounted for as a separate performance obligation. Sales of 
licence subscriptions provide the customer with a right of use of 
the group’s software as it exists throughout the licence period. 
Revenue is typically paid in advance on an annual, quarterly or 
monthly basis. Revenue is recognised evenly over the non-
cancellable term of the contract. Revenue received in advance 
of the performance of services is deferred and recognised as 
contract liabilities.

Licence set-up 

Rendering of services being set-up and development of 
customised software or applications typically does not result 
in the customer receiving a good or service which is distinct 
from the rendering of associated licence subscription services. 
As a result, any revenue separately attributable to set-up or 
development is recognised evenly over the non-cancellable term 
of the contract as described above. 
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Projects (including pilot programs)

Project revenue, which includes delivery of customised data and 
reports, and pilot programs for licence subscription, is recognised 
when the performance obligations have been satisfied with 
reference to the stage of completion. Stage of completion refers to 
contractual milestones or deliverables, and revenue is recognised 
at a point in time when the milestone or deliverable has been 
satisfied.

Sale of goods (including customised hardware)

Sale of goods revenue is recognised when the performance 
obligation to transfer control of the goods to the customer is 
satisfied, which occurs either at the point of sale or when delivery 
is completed by way of shipping the product to the location 
specified by the customer, and the ownership risks have therefore 
passed to the customer pursuant to the contract. Amounts 
disclosed are net of sales returns and trade discounts. 

Maintenance and support

Maintenance and support revenue is accounted for as a separate 
performance obligation. Revenue is typically paid in advance 
on an annual, quarterly or monthly basis. Revenue is recognised 
evenly over the non-cancellable term of the contract. Revenue 
received in advance of the performance of services is deferred 
and recognised as contract liabilities.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the income statement on an 
accruals basis, using the effective interest method. 

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in the income statement when the 
entity’s right to receive payment is established.

(h) Financing costs

Financing costs comprise interest expense on borrowings 
calculated using the effective interest rate method, costs incurred 
in establishing and maintaining borrowing facilities for use in 
funding business acquisitions, foreign exchange gains and 
losses on foreign currency borrowings, unwinding of the discount 
on provisions, fair value movements on other financial assets at 
fair value through the profit or loss where considered part of the 
borrowing cost, and gains and losses on hedging instruments 
that are recognised in the income statement.  Borrowing costs 
are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method 
unless they relate to a qualifying asset in which case they are 
capitalised in the relevant asset.

(i) Operating leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease.

(j) Research and development expenditure

Research expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Development expenditure incurred on projects may be 
capitalised if the product or service is technically feasible, 
adequate resources are available to complete the projects, it is 
probable that future economic benefits will be generated and 
expenditure attributable to a project can be reliably measured. 
Expenditure capitalised comprises the direct costs of services, 
direct labour and an appropriate portion of overheads. Other 
development costs are expensed when they are incurred. 
Capitalised development expenditure, if any, is stated at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses and 
amortised over the period of expected future sales from the 
related projects, which is generally no more than three years. 

Capitalised development expenditure is reviewed at least annually 
for impairment.

(k) Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit on the profit or loss for the 
year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax expense is 
recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is also 
recognised directly in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the current period’s 
taxable income, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted 
at balance date. Current tax also includes any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is measured using the balance sheet method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
income tax purposes.  The amount of deferred tax recognised 
is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement 
of the underlying items and the tax rates which are enacted or 
substantially enacted at balance date and expected to apply 
when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled. The 
following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting 
nor taxable profit and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is not recognised for taxable 
temporary differences arising from the recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of 
dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay 
the related dividend.

Tax consolidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities 
formed a tax consolidated group on 10 October 2012 meaning 
that all members of the tax consolidated group are taxed as a 
single entity from that date. The Company is the head entity of the 
tax consolidated group. 

(l) Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in 
equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables, cash 
and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings and trade and other 
payables.

Financial assets are recognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows and the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 
the Consolidated Entity. Financial assets are derecognised when 
the rights to receive cash flows from these assets have expired or 
have been transferred and the Consolidated Entity has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are recognised if the Consolidated Entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the 
Consolidated Entity’s obligations specified in the contract 
expire or are discharged or cancelled. Non-derivative financial 
instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for 
instruments not at fair value though profit or loss, any directly 
attributable transaction costs, except as described below. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial 
instruments are measured as described below.

Purchases of investments are recognised when the Consolidated 
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Entity is entitled to the risks and rewards of ownership. 
This is usually on settlement date, being the date on which 
the asset is delivered to the Consolidated Entity.  Sales of 
investments are recognised when the Consolidated Entity is 
unconditionally committed to sell the asset and the risks and 
rewards of ownership have been substantially transferred by the 
Consolidated Entity.

The Consolidated Entity classifies its investments as either loans 
and receivables at amortised cost or financial assets through 
profit or loss. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the investments were acquired.  Management determines 
the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-
evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They arise when the Consolidated Entity provides money, 
goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling 
the receivable.  After initial measurement, loans and receivables 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less allowance for impairment, if any. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate. The amortisation is included in the income statement 
in interest income. Losses arising from any impairment of such 
loans and advances are recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

An instrument is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it 
is held for trading or is designated as such upon initial recognition 
or subsequently re-designated in compliance with accounting 
standards. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. 
Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit 
or loss if the Consolidated Entity manages such investments and 
makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in 
accordance with the Company’s investment strategy.  Attributable 
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.  
Financial instruments that are classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are 
recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
held at call with financial institutions and other investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  Bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral 
part of the Consolidated Entity’s cash management strategy are 
reported within liabilities in the balance sheet, but included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
Statement of Cash Flows.

Impairment 

The Consolidated Entity assesses at each balance date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is considered to be impaired if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 
‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment 
includes observable data that indicates that there is a measurable 
decrease in the future cash flows expected to be received.

Loans and receivables

For loans and receivables carried at amortised cost, the 
Consolidated Entity first assesses whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists for financial assets that are individually 
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not 
individually significant. If the Consolidated Entity determines that 
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a 
collective assessment of impairment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

For financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, the 
Consolidated Entity assesses at each balance sheet date whether 
or not there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. 

(m) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation, accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses (refer note 1(t)). The carrying amount of 
an item of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of 
replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is 
probable that future economic benefits embodied within the item 
will eventuate and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in 
the income statement as incurred.

Depreciation or amortisation is charged to the income statement 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part 
of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful 
lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows:

- Property, plant and equipment 3 years

- Computer equipment  2 years

Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

(n) Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition 
over the fair value of the Consolidated Entity’s share of the net 
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary or associate at the 
date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is 
included in intangible assets.  Any goodwill on acquisitions of 
associates or jointly controlled entities is included in investments 
in associates or jointly controlled entities where the equity 
method is adopted.  Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating 
units for the purpose of impairment testing. Gains and losses on 
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill 
relating to the entity sold.

Identifiable intangible assets

The useful lives of separately identified intangible assets are 
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortised over the useful life and tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life 
are reviewed at least annually. Changes in the expected useful 
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for prospectively 
by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, 
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which is a change in accounting estimate. The amortisation 
expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the 
income statement.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating 
unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an 
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed each reporting 
period to determine whether the indefinite life assessment 
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful 
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for as a 
change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets other 
than goodwill which is not amortised. Other intangible assets are 
amortised from the date they are available for use. The useful lives 
of intangible assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each balance date. The estimated useful life of software and 
technology intangible assets is three years. 

(o) Creditors and payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Consolidated Entity prior to the end of the period 
and which remain outstanding at balance date. Creditors are 
stated initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, 
are unsecured, and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition.

(p) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value. 
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future 
principal and interest cash flows. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at amortised 
cost with income/expense recognised in profit or loss on an 
effective interest basis.

(q) Employee entitlements

Wages and salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits 
and annual leave due to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services 
up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  

Long service leave

The Consolidated Entity’s net obligation for long service leave 
is measured as the present value of expected future payments 
to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. 
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields 
at the reporting date on government bonds that have maturity 
dates approximating to the terms of the Consolidated Entity’s 
obligations.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Consolidated Entity recognises a provision for bonuses where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation and a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made. The liability is not discounted as it is 
settled within 12 months.

(r) Employee benefits expense – share based payments

The Consolidated Entity may provide benefits to its employees, 
including directors, in the form of share-based payments, 

whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or 
rights over shares (equity-settled transactions).

The fair value of options granted is recognised as an employee 
benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity 
(Employee equity benefits reserve). The fair value is measured 
at grant date and recognised over the period during which the 
employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. Fair 
value is determined using an appropriate option pricing model 
(e.g. Black-Scholes). In determining fair value, no account is 
taken of any performance conditions other than those related to 
the share price of Invigor Group Limited.

(s) Provisions

Provisions are recognised in the balance sheet when the 
Consolidated Entity has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
the amount has been reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting expected future cash 
flows at a market rate.

(t) Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to 
amortisation but are tested annually for impairment.  Assets 
that have a definite useful life and are subject to amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is measured by 
reference to fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  An 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement unless 
the asset has previously been revalued, in which case the loss is 
recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation 
with any excess recognised through the income statement.

(u) Issued Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or the collection of 
instalment amounts due from shareholders are accounted for as a 
deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.

(v) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit 
or loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the reporting period.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the 
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs 
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary 
shares.

(w) New  and revised accounting standards

The Consolidated Entity has adopted all of the new or amended 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board that are mandatory for 
the current period. Any new or amended Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most 
relevant to the Consolidated Entity. 
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AASB 9: Financial Instruments

The Group applied AASB 9: Financial Instruments (as revised in 
July 2014) and the related consequential amendments to other 
Standards. The date of initial application was 1 January 2018. 
New requirements were introduced for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, as well as 
for impairment and general hedge accounting.

Financial assets in terms of AASB 9 need to be measured 
subsequently at either amortised cost or fair value on the basis of 
the entity’s business model and the cash flow characteristics of 
the financial assets:

• debt investments that are held within a business model 
whose goal is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that 
have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost

• debt investments that are held within a business model whose 
goal is both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell it, and 
that have contractual cash flows that are purely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income; and

• all other debt investments and equity investments are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

At 1 January 2018, there were no financial assets/liabilities which 
the Group had previously designated as fair value through profit 
or loss under AASB 139 that were subject to reclassification/
elected reclassification upon the application of AASB 9: Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. There were no 
financial assets/liabilities which the Group has elected to 
designate as at fair value through profit or loss at the date of initial 
application of AASB 9.

For financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit 
or loss, the standard required the portion of the change in fair 
value that relates to the entity’s own credit risk to be presented 
through other comprehensive income (unless it would create 
an accounting mismatch). New, simpler hedge accounting 
requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting 
treatment with risk management activities of the entity.

New impairment requirements use a ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) 
model to recognise an allowance. Impairment is measured using 
a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition 
in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. For trade 
receivables, a simplified approach to measuring expected credit 
losses using a lifetime expected loss allowance is available. 

The adoption of AASB 9 resulted in the following adjustment:

• provision for doubtful debts now reclassified as allowance for 
expected credit loss

There was no change in the carrying amounts on the adoption of 
AASB 9 as at 1 January 2018. 

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Consolidated Entity adopted AASB 15 from 1 January 2018, 
using the fully retrospective approach. The standard provides a 
single comprehensive model for revenue recognition. The core 
principle of the standard is that the entity recognises revenue to 
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers 
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or services. The 
standard introduced a new contract-based revenue recognition 
model with a measurement approach that is based on an 
allocation of the transaction price.

Credit risk is presented separately as an expense rather 
than adjusted against revenue. Contracts with customers are 
presented in an entity’s statement of financial position as a 
contract asset, contract liability, or a receivable depending on the 
relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s 
payment. Customer acquisition costs and costs to fulfil a contract 
can, subject to certain criteria, be capitalised as an asset and 
amortised over the contract period. 

The adoption of AASB 15 resulted in the following adjustments:

• deferred licence, subscription and maintenance revenue now 
reclassified as a contract liability

There was no change in the carrying amounts on the adoption of 
AASB 15 as at 1 January 2018.

The Consolidated Entity’s assessment of the new and amended 
pronouncements that are relevant to the Consolidated Entity but 
applicable in future reporting periods is set out below:

AASB 16: Leases (applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019).

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting 
requirements applicable to leases in AASB 117: Leases and 
related Interpretations. AASB 16 introduces a single lessee 
accounting model that eliminates the requirement for leases to be 
classified as operating or finance leases.

The main changes introduced by the new Standard include:

- recognition of a right-to-use asset and liability for all leases 
(excluding short-term leases with less than 12 months of 
tenure and leases relating to low-value assets);

- depreciation of right-to-use assets in line with AASB 116: 
Property, Plant and Equipment in profit or loss and unwinding 
of the liability in principal and interest components;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are 
included in the initial measurement of the lease liability using 
the index or rate at the commencement date;

- by applying a practical expedient, a lessee is permitted to 
elect not to separate non-lease components and instead 
account for all components as a lease; and

- additional disclosure requirements.

The transitional provisions of AASB 16 allow a lessee to either 
retrospectively apply the Standard to comparatives in line with 
AASB 108 or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective 
application as an adjustment to opening equity on the date 
of initial application. Although the directors anticipate that the 
adoption of AASB 16 will impact the Group’s financial statements, 
it is not considered to be a material impact based on the existing 
lease commitments of the Group.
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2 Segment reporting
The Consolidated Entity has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments whereby segment information is presented using a ‘management 
approach’. That is, segment information is provided on the same basis as information used for management reporting purposes by the 
chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is considered to the Board of Directors. 

The Consolidated Entity has identified TillerStack GmbH, Condat AG (discontinued in the year) and Australia & South-East Asia as 
separately identifiable operating segments. TillerStack GmbH previously formed part of the Condat AG segment, and has been 
considered a separately identified segment from 1 May 2018. The TillerStack GmbH and Condat AG segments operates primarily in 
Germany. The Australia & South-East Asia segment operates primarily in Australia and Singapore.

a) Segment results

Year ended 31 December 2018

TillerStack  
GmbH 
$’000

Condat AG 
(discontinued) 

$’000

Australia &  
SE Asia 

$’000

Consolidated 
Total 
$’000

Revenue from external customers 1,066 2,376 1,251 4,693

Other revenue/income1 - - 1,124 1,124

Total segment revenue/income 1,066 2,376 2,375 5,817

EBITDA (before impairment) (480) 187 (3,525) (3,818)

Finance costs (70) (35) (1,018) (1,123)

Depreciation and amortisation (45) (128) (3,512) (3,685)

Year ended 31 December 2017

Revenue from external customers - 6,728 721 7,449

Other revenue/income1 - - 1,150 1,150

Total segment revenue/income - 6,728 1,871 8,599

EBITDA (before impairment) - 947 (4,261) (3,314)

Finance costs - (91) (1,021) (1,112)

Depreciation and amortisation - (321) (1,447) (1,768)

1 Other revenue/income includes the Research & Development Tax Rebate of $1,068,000 (2017: $1,250,000), and recoveries from liquidation of other 
assets of $56,000 (2017: nil)

b) Reconciliation of segment EBITDA to profit (loss) before income tax is as follows:

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Total EBITDA for reportable segments (3,818) (3,314)

Depreciation and amortisation for reportable segments (3,685) (1,768)

Impairment charges - (6,950)

Finance costs for reportable segments (1,123) (1,112)

Elimination of discounted operations (24) (535)

Profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations (8,650) (13,679)

c) Revenue & other income by geographical region

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Australia 2,107 1,665

Asia (Singapore & Indonesia) 268 206

Germany (including four months of discontinued operations from Condat AG segment) 3,442 6,728

Total revenue & other income 5,817 8,599

The Consolidated Entity has adopted the amendment included in AASB 2009-5. No segment assets or segment liabilities are disclosed 
as these were not regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker.
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3 Revenue from contracts with customers (from continuing operations)

a) Revenue by Product 

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
20171 
$’000

Pricing (including Spotlite) 661 371

Loyalty (including Visitor) 590 350

TillerStack 1,066 -

Total revenue from contracts with customers 2,317 721

b) Disaggregation of revenue

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Licence subscription fees including support services 778 696

Licence and application set up fees 36 -

Project fees 438 25

Sale of customised hardware 390 -

Maintenance and support services 675 -

Total revenue 2,317 721

c) Timing of revenue recognition  

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Products and services transferred at a point in time 828 25

Services transferred over time 1,489 696

Total revenue 2,317 721

1 31 December 2017 balances have been restated to remove discontinued operations. Refer to Note 4.
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4 Discontinued operations

Condat AG

On 7 May 2018 the Consolidated Entity sold 100% of the issued share capital of its German operating subsidiary Condat AG 
(“Condat”) for €1.8 million ($2,873,000). Prior to the sale, certain assets of Condat relating to the Skyware business were transferred to 
another subsidiary of the Company TillerStack GmbH, previously Invigor Germany (Holdings) GmbH. 

Condat was not previously classified as held-for-sale or as a discontinued operation. The financial results of Condat for the period have 
been presented as a Discontinued Operation in the financial report. The comparative Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income has been restated to show the discontinued operation separately from continuing operations. 

During the period the provisional calculation of loss on disposal has been finalised. The Directors have determined that the entire 
goodwill balance of $5,745,000 previously attributable to Condat CGU should be included in the disposal, with no goodwill carved out 
for the remaining TillerStack business (at 30 June 2018, $2,872,000 had been provisionally allocated to TillerStack). As a result, the 
total loss from discontinued operations has increased by $2,872,000 to $3,684,000.

a) Results of discontinued operation 

31 December 
2018 
$’000

31 December 
2017 
$’000

Revenue 2,376 6,728

Expenses (2,352) (6,193)

Results from operating activities 24 535

Income tax - -

Results from operating activities, net of tax 24 535

Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operation (3,534) -

Transaction costs relating to discontinued operations (174) -

Income tax on gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operation - -

Profit (loss) for the period (3,684) 535

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (cents) (0.28) 0.09

b) Cash flows from (used in) discontinued operation 

31 December 
2018 
$’000

31 December 
2017 
$’000

Net cash used in operating activities (100) (4)

Net cash from Investing activities (65) -

Net cash from financing activities 117 (368)

Net cash flow for the period (48) (372)

c) Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group  

31 December 
2018 
$’000

Intangible assets1 1,393

Property, plant and equipment 54

Trade and other receivables 2,222

Cash and cash equivalents 65

Provisions (90)

Trade and other payables (2,982)

Net assets and liabilities 662

Consideration received, satisfied in cash 2,444

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (65)

Net cash inflow 2,379

1 Intangible assets held directly by Condat AG, excluding goodwill of $5,745,000 attributable to Condat CGU, refer note 12. 

The loss for the period from discontinued operations was attributable entirely to the owners of the Company. 
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5 Business Combinations 

Invigor Asia Pte Limited (previously Sprooki Pte Limited)

As part of the acquisition of Invigor Asia Pte Limited in 2017, additional contingent consideration may have been payable before April 
2019 if certain performance conditions relating to 2017 and 2018 were achieved. The fair value of the contingent consideration has 
been assessed as nil at 31 December 2018 based on the actual performance.

6 Expenses

a) Employee benefits  

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
20171 
$’000

Employee benefits 4,002 3,276

Share based payments 107 256

4,109 3,532

1 31 December 2017 balances have been restated to remove discontinued operations. Refer to Note 4.

The Company provides benefits to defined employees (including executive directors) of the Consolidated Entity in the form of 
share-based payment transactions, whereby services are rendered in exchange for shares or options over shares (“equity-settled 
transactions”). Formal share and option incentive plans are in place. Refer Note 1(r).

The Company incurred costs of $312,107 relating to defined contribution payments in 2018 (2017 - $259,596). This amount is included 
in total employee benefits expense disclosed above.

b) Other operating costs  

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
20171 
$’000

IT and network costs 455 414

Marketing costs 192 175

Property costs 531 320

Materials (hardware) 285 -

Other operating costs 777 733

2,240 1,642

1 31 December 2017 balances have been restated to remove discontinued operations. Refer to Note 4

7 Income Tax

a) Income tax benefit (expense) recognised in the income statement  

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Current tax - (6)

Total income tax benefit (expense) - (6)

b) Numerical reconciliation between income tax expense and pre-tax net profit (loss)  

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Profit (loss) for the year before tax (12,334) (13,144)

Income tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2017 – 30%) (3,700) (3,943)

Non-deductible expenses 2,806 3,110

Non-assessable income (320) (345)

Other timing differences (121) (182)

Foreign operations – impact of different tax rate (137) (66)

Correction from prior years - -

Unrealised losses 1,472 1,420

Total income tax benefit (expense) - (6)
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(c)  Tax losses 

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised: 

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Income tax losses 26,178 18,506

Capital losses 45,036 45,036

Potential benefit at 30%

Income tax losses 7,854 5,552

Capital losses 13,511 13,511

The benefit of all losses available to the Australian tax consolidated group can only be utilised if the requirements of the Income 
Tax Assessment Act are satisfied at the time the head entity seeks to utilise the available losses. This will include the requirement to 
meet either the continuity of ownership test or the same business test at that time. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised for 
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses as it is not presently probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

TillerStack GmbH has aggregated corporate and trade tax losses of approximately EUR 1.8 million (gross), subject to completion of 
the 2018 tax return. 

8 Receivables

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Trade debtors 598 752

Allowance for expected credit loss (39) (39)

Work in progress - 689

Sundry debtors and other receivables 241 379

Prepayments 164 171

Current 964 1,952

9 Associates and Joint Arrangements
MI Ventures Pty Ltd ATF MI Ventures Unit Trust

Invigor Group Limited entered into a Joint Venture arrangement, MI Ventures Pty Ltd, with Melic Pty Limited in September 2016 to 
install Wi-Fi at Manly Wharf. The Joint Venture was formed by way of a unit trust with each party holding 50 units each.

The Joint Venture earns revenue through the provision of targeted advertising, promotions and offers to commuters at Manly Wharf 
through the Wi-Fi network that has been installed. Invigor Group Limited’s investment in MI Ventures Pty Ltd has been recognised 
using the equity method of accounting. 
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10 Fair values of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded securities and available-for sale securities) are 
based on quoted market prices at the balance date (usually being the closing bid price at that date).

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined using valuation techniques. The 
Consolidated Entity uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions based on market conditions existing at balance date.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities recognised at balance date are not considered to be materially different from their 
carrying amounts as described below or in the relevant notes to these financial statements.

The Consolidated Entity has considered that the use of derivative financial instruments, such as foreign exchange contracts or interest 
rate swaps, to minimise the risks associated with financial instruments, was not necessary during the financial year.

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating fair values of financial assets and liabilities.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Fair values for listed securities are based on the quoted market price at balance date without any deduction for transaction costs. The 
Consolidated Entity held no listed securities at balance date.

Fair values for unlisted securities are assessed using financial models, supporting analysis, including the terms upon which funding or 
investments are made, and may be supported by independent analysis if considered appropriate to aid the assessment. 

In 2017, an impairment expense of $1,750,000 was recognised against other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss relating 
to an investment in TUXXE using the fair value methodology described above. 

Interest-bearing borrowings

Fair values are estimated using analysis based on current terms and rates for similar types of lending arrangements. Fair values of 
interest-bearing borrowings due within 12 months are generally assessed to equal face value given the short term to maturity.

Trade and other receivables and payables

The carrying amounts represent fair value because of their short term to maturity.

Contingent consideration

Fair values for contingent consideration arising from business combinations is estimated using financial models and supporting 
analysis based on the terms of the purchase agreement. The contingent consideration for the Invigor Asia Pte Ltd acquisition was 
determined with reference to the actual 2017 and 2018 financial performance.   

The Consolidated Entity will usually use the BBSW yield curve as at the reporting date, plus an adequate constant credit spread, to 
discount financial instruments, where applicable.

Fair value hierarchy

At 31 December 2018 there are no financial instruments held at fair value.
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Plant and equipment

Cost 189 2,499

Accumulated depreciation (178) (2,473)

Net carrying amount 11 26

Computer equipment and software

Cost 386 581

Accumulated depreciation (386) (527)

Net carrying amount - 54

Total property, plant and equipment

Cost 575 3,080

Accumulated depreciation (564) (3,000)

Net carrying amount 11 80

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the period

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Plant and equipment

Net carrying amount at the beginning of the period 26 44

Additions 20 28

Disposals (33) -

Depreciation charge for the year (2) (46)

Net carrying amount at the end of the period 11 26

Computer equipment

Net carrying amount at the beginning of the period 54 108

Additions - 8

Acquisitions through business combinations (net) - 20

Disposals (25) -
Depreciation charge for the year (29) (82)

Net carrying amount at the end of the period - 54

Total property, plant and equipment

Net carrying amount at the beginning of the period 80 152

Additions 20 36

Acquisitions through business combinations (net) - 20

Disposals (58) -

Depreciation charge for the year (31) (128)

Net carrying amount at the end of the period 11 80
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12 Intangible assets

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Software and technology
Cost (gross carrying amount) 5,552 5,249
Accumulated amortisation & impairment (2,980) (1,767)
Net carrying amount 2,572 3,482

Goodwill
Cost (gross carrying amount) 5,551 11,296
Accumulated impairment (4,600) (4,600)
Net carrying amount 951 6,696

Capitalised development expenditure
Cost (gross carrying amount) 6,623 6,279
Accumulated amortisation (4,131) (1,643)
Net carrying amount 2,492 4,636

Total intangible assets
Cost (gross carrying amount) 17,726 22,824
Accumulated amortisation & impairment (11,711) (8,010)
Net carrying amount 6,015 14,814

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the period

Software and technology
Net carrying amount at the beginning of the period 3,482 828
Additions 303 4,004
Acquisitions through business combinations (1,201) (540)
Amortisation charge for the year - (600)
Impairment (12) -
Transfer (to)/from other category - (210)
Net carrying amount at the end of the period 2,572 3,482

Goodwill
Net carrying amount at the beginning of the period 6,696 11,296
Disposal (5,745) -
Impairment expense - (4,600)
Net carrying amount at the end of the period 951 6,696

Capitalised development expenditure
Net carrying amount at the beginning of the period 4,636 3,251
Additions 1,723 2,246
Amortisation charge for the year (2,453) (1,100)
Disposal (1,379) -
Transfer (to)/from other category - 210
Foreign exchange (35) 29
Net carrying amount at the end of the period 2,492 4,636

Total intangibles
Net carrying amount at the beginning of the period 14,814 15,375
Additions 1,723 2,246
Acquisitions through business combinations 303 4,004
Amortisation charge for the year (3,654) (1,640)
Impairment expense - (5,200)
Disposal (7,136) -
Foreign exchange (35) 29
Net carrying amount at the end of the period 6,015 14,814
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Software and technology

An intangible asset is recognised for software and technology owned by the Consolidated Entity. Software and technology acquired 
under a business combination has been recognised at fair value at acquisition date. Fair value has been established using appropriate 
analysis and having regard to the relevant contractual terms of the transactions. The software and technology were acquired following 
completion of the acquisitions of Global Group Australia, Amethon Solutions in 2014 and Invigor Asia (Sprooki) in 2017. 

The Software and technology assets are recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. In 2018, 
management revised the useful economic life of the remaining Invigor Asia intangible assets to two years from the start of the current 
reporting period (being 1 July 2018). 

Impairment 

In 2017, an impairment loss of $600,000 was recognised in profit or loss relating to the MVID patent intangible asset. The carrying 
value of the MVID asset at 31 December 2018 is nil (31 December 2017: nil).

Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Consolidated Entity’s cash generating units (CGUs). At 31 December 2018, the goodwill balance related 
to the Australia & South-East Asia CGU, comprising the Australian businesses acquired in prior periods (including Invigor Digital 
Solutions “IDS”) and the Asian Sprooki business acquired in 2017; and to the TillerStack CGU comprising the entity’s German 
operation TillerStack GmbH which was carved out from the Condat segment and CGU prior to sale. Goodwill is reviewed annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of goodwill has been assessed by reference to both fair value less costs to sell and value in use (VIU) 
methodologies. Where possible, relevant comparable information is used from an active market and where such information is not 
readily available a combination of market accepted valuation techniques are used to estimate the amount available from the sale of 
assets in arm’s-length transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties.

Impairment testing 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units as follows:

31 December 
2018 
$’000

31 December 
2017 
$’000

Australia & South-East Asia 951 951

TillerStack (previously Condat)1 - 5,745

Total 951 6,696

1 Goodwill relating to the TillerStack CGU carved out from Condat was provisionally recognised at 30 June 2018. Following the finalisation of the disposal 
accounting per note 4, no goodwill has been allocated to TillerStack CGU.

For VIU assessment, a 5-year discounted cash flow model was utilised which included the following assumptions:

Australia  
& SE Asia TillerStack

Discount rate 22% 22%

Annual revenue growth rate (years 1 to 2) 61% 44%

Annual revenue growth rate (years 2 to 3) 116% 20%

Annual revenue growth rate (years 3 to 5) 20% 20%

Terminal growth rate 3% 3%

The estimated recoverable amount exceeded/ (did not exceed) the carrying value for each CGU by the following amounts

31 December 
2018 
$’000

31 December 
2017 
$’000

Australia & South-East Asia 4,700 8,100

TillerStack 200 n/a

Impairment

In 2017, an impairment loss of $4,600,000 was recognised in profit or loss relating to goodwill. This was a result of impairment testing 
undertaken whereby the carrying amount of the Australian & South East Asia CGU exceeded the recoverable amount based on long 
term forecasts. 
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Significant estimate: Impact of possible change in key assumptions – Australia & SE Asia CGU 

The value in use amount of the Australia & South-East Asia CGU is estimated to be $9.3 million. This exceeds the carrying amount of 
the CGU at 31 December 2018 by $4.7 million. The recoverable amount of this CGU would equal its carrying amount if revenue was 
reduced by 12% each year with no change in forecast costs, and would be fully impaired if revenue was reduced by 23% each year 
with no change in forecast costs.

The Directors and management have considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for other key assumptions and have 
not identified any instances that could cause the carrying amount of the Australia & South-East Asia CGU to exceed its recoverable 
amount.

Capitalised development expenditure

Eligible expenditure associated with product development has been capitalised in accordance with the policy described in Note 1(j). 
The capitalised expenditure is recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. In 2018, management 
revised the useful economic life of the capitalised development intangible assets to three years (previously five years). 

13 Trade and other creditors and accruals

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Trade creditors 919 528

Other creditors and accrued expenses 1,053 1,514

Contract liabilituies (Unearned revenue) 309 385

Current 2,281 2,427

Included in trade creditors are invoicesinvoices totalling $nil (2017 - $nil) payable at balance date under cost recovery agreements 
with Marcel Equity Pty Ltd and associated entities. Refer Note 24 for details of related party balances included in other creditor and 
accrued expenses. These amounts are unsecured.

14 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Unsecured borrowings – convertible notes 1,000 3,780

Unsecured borrowings – loan and overdraft facilities 3,377 3,877

Unsecured borrowings - employees - 459

Secured borrowings - loan facilities 2,850 700

Current 7,227 8,816

Secured borrowings – loan facilities - 2,000

Unsecured borrowings – loan facilities - 301

Non-current - 2,301

Current

Unsecured borrowings – convertible notes

Unsecured convertible notes are shown as a current liability at balance date because the note holders held a current right at that date 
to issue a conversion notice notwithstanding the remaining terms to maturity under the facilities.

2017 Convertible notes issues

Convertible notes issued in the prior year (2017) were all converted or redeemed in the period. Balance at 31 December 2018 was nil 
(2017: $3,780,000).

2018 Convertible notes issue

Issue 1

During February and March 2018, the Company received a total of $1,000,000 funds from three sophisticated investors as an initial 
investment in TillerStack (Skyware) with the option of converting to shares in the Company at $0.01. It was subsequently agreed to 
extend the facility as a Convertible Note in the Company on the terms listed below, with a right to invest in TillerStack. 
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The key terms of the facility are:

• Convertible notes on issue at 31 December 2018 - 142,857,142 at $0.007 per share 

• Maturity dates – 7 May 2019

• Ranking – unsecured

• Conversion price - the convertible notes may be converted into shares at the conversion price of $0.007 per share or 10-day VWAP 
at the time on conversion if below $0.007 and subject to a floor price of $0.004 (subject to any adjustment in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of those notes)

• Interest – 10.0 per cent per annum, compounded monthly on the principal amount outstanding of each convertible note, and 
payable on maturity 

• Redemption – on the maturity date, or at a later date when the noteholder gives a notice requiring redemption, or after the 
occurrence of a defined event of default.

Unsecured borrowings – loan and overdraft facilities

Marcel Equity facility

In February 2016, the Company entered into an interest-bearing short-term loan arrangement with Marcel Equity Pty Ltd (“Marcel”), 
an entity associated with Gary Cohen and Gregory Cohen (Directors of the Company), under which Marcel will make available up to 
$700,000 as and when required by the Company, subject to the terms of the loan arrangement. In December 2016, this arrangement 
was renewed and extended with a drawdown limit of $1,000,000 and was available until 31 March 2018. In September 2017, this 
arrangement was renewed and extended with a drawdown limit of $2,000,000 and was available until 30 September 2018. On 29 June 
2018, this arrangement was renewed and extended with a drawdown limit $2,600,000, and was available until 31 December 2019. On 
30 November 2018, this arrangement was renewed and extended with a drawdown limit of $3,000,000, available until 31 December 
2019.

An amount of $2,588,000 (31 December 2017 - $1,124,000) has been drawn as at 31 December 2018.  $2,400,000 of borrowings 
under the facility incur interest at a rate of 10.3% per annum, being a rate equivalent to a bank overdraft facility at the time the 
arrangement was entered into, and $600,000 of borrowings (fully drawn at 31 December 2018) incur interest at a rate of 15% per 
annum. 

German facilities

All loan and overdraft balances previously held by Condat AG were sold as part of the disposal of the subsidiary.

In May 2018, TillerStack GmbH, previously Invigor Holdings (Germany) GmbH, settled in full the €1,300,000 ($1,990,812) loan facility 
previously held with an investor/consultant of the Company, Mr. Peter Hermann. Also, in May 2018, a new 12-month €120,000 loan 
facility with Mr Hermann was entered into. The loan accrues interest at a rate of 9% per annum. The amount outstanding at balance 
date was €120,000 ($194,238).

Other loan facilities

On 29 November 2018, the Company entered into a loan facility agreement with Karoo Investment Group Pty Ltd. The lender made 
available $220,000 which is fully drawn at 31 December 2018, at an interest rate of 15% pa. The loan is repayable by 31 October 2019. 

On 31 October 2018, the Company received $300,000 from a sophisticated investor as a convertible note, expiring on 31 December 
2018. The convertible note had zero interest, and a $50,000 redemption provision should the note not convert. As the investor had not 
converted the note as at 31 December 2018, the Company have recognised a $350,000 loan liability. $116,667 of this balance has 
been paid since period end. The balance will be repaid by 31 March 2019. 

Credit card facilities relating to the group were drawn to $24,339 at 31 December 2018. 

Secured borrowings 

On 20 December 2018, the Company entered into a new Prepayment Loan Agreement with a Karoo Investment Group Pty Ltd under 
which the lender has made available a facility in the amount of $1,100,000 at an interest rate 18% p.a. The facility is being used to fund 
the Company’s research and development activities. The facility is drawn to $850,000 at 31 December 2018, and is repayable by the 
earlier of 31 October 2019 or on receipt of the research and development tax rebate amount for the year ended 31 December 2018. 
Amounts drawn under the facility are secured against the grant receivable. 

Invigor Group Limited secured a A$2 million loan facility with Partners for Growth (PFG) in February 2017. Under the terms of the 
agreement, Partners for Growth’s funding is for 2 years at a 10% annual interest rate. IVO issued 66.6 million warrants to the firm 
exercisable at 3.0 cents on 19 April 2017 which expire in 2021. Subsequent to 31 December 2018, $0.5 million was repaid on 28 
February 2019. The repayment date of A$1.5 million the loan has been extended to 30 June 2019, with A$0.25 million repayable in 
April 2019, and interest to accrue at 12% pa. 

Other available overdraft facilities

The Consolidated Entity has a $100,000 interest bearing overdraft facility with National Australia Bank which was fully available at 31 
December 2018 (31 December 2017 – fully available). The facility is secured by guarantees provided by entities associated with Gary 
Cohen and Gregory Cohen.
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15 Provisions

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Other provisions - 86

Employee benefits 246 259

Current 246 345

Employee benefits 8 21

Non-Current 8 21

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the period:

Employee benefits

Balance at the beginning of the period 280 231

Provisions raised (reversed) (26) 49

Balance at the end of the period 254 280

Total provisions

Balance at the beginning of the period 366 231

Provisions raised (reversed/disposed) (112) 135

Balance at the end of the period 254 366

Employee benefits

Provision for employee benefits represent amounts payable by the Consolidated Entity for accrued annual leave and long service 
leave.

16 Financial risk management, objectives and processes
The Consolidated Entity has exposure to a variety of financial risks, which are categorised as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
This note presents information about the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to each of these risks. Additional disclosures are presented 
throughout this financial report.

The Board recognises that the understanding and management of risk, particularly preservation of capital, is critical to the Company. 
The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring that there is a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and 
controls. The Board has formally adopted documented policies and processes to enable appropriate management of business and 
investment risk.

Key financial risk management practices presently employed by the Company include:

• The Board having ultimate responsibility for business, investment and divestment decisions. This includes monitoring the 
quantum of funds invested in any operating business or transaction so that the level of exposure is appropriate to the Company’s 
circumstances.

• Preservation of cash resources. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, both Board members, oversee treasury 
management on behalf of the Board with ultimate responsibility retained by the full Board.

Operating businesses in which the Company is invested but which are not wholly owned are responsible for their own risk 
management. The Company oversees the risk management processes of these businesses by providing assistance and guidance to 
their management teams where appropriate. The Company may also have representation on the boards of these businesses.

The risk management policies and analysis described below and throughout the financial report refer to those practices adopted by 
entities that are members of the Consolidated Entity.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. There are various types of market risk including exposures to foreign currencies, interest rates and equity market prices. The 
Consolidated Entity may use derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. No derivative financial instruments 
were used during the financial year. The methods used to measure the types of risk to which the Consolidated Entity is exposed are 
described below.
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(i) Foreign currency risk

Investments have been made by the Consolidated Entity in Australian dollars only.

The Consolidated Entity incorporated a legal entity in Germany in 2016 following the acquisition of Condat AG (separate entity) in 
late 2015. This entity is TillerStack GmbH (fka Invigor Holdings (Germany) GmbH. Following the disposal of Condat AG in May 2018, 
part of the business and assets were retained by TillerStack GmbH. TillerStack operates mainly in Germany. TillerStack’s business 
transactions are denominated in Euro and its accounting records are kept in that currency. Exposure to Euro is subject to exchange 
variations upon the provision of any required funding to the subsidiary and to exchange variations resulting from the translation to 
Australian dollars on consolidation of TillerStack’s statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income at closing 
and average rates respectively.

The Consolidated Entity completed the acquisition of Invigor Asia Pte Limited (formerly Sprooki) in June 2017 but with effect from 1 
May 2017. Invigor Asia operates mainly in Singapore. Invigor Asia’s business transactions are primarily denominated in Singapore 
Dollar (SGD) and it’s accounting records are kept in that currency. Exposure to (SGD) is subject to exchange variations upon the 
provision of any required funding to the subsidiary and to exchange variations resulting from the translation to Australian dollars on 
consolidation of Invigor Asia’s statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income at closing and average rates 
respectively.

At 31 December 2018, the Consolidated Entity did not have any other material net foreign currency risk in respect of transactions in 
currencies other than the functional currency except as described above (31 December 2017 - nil).

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to market interest rates on deposits is minimal. Cash reserves are held in interest-bearing accounts 
with either fixed or variable interest rates. 

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 155 511

Financial liabilities

Unsecured borrowings 4,377 8,417

Secured borrowings 2,850 2,700

Sensitivity Analysis

At 31 December 2018, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 1% from the year-end rates, with all other variables held constant, and this 
change was applied to cash and cash equivalents, the effect on profit (loss) after tax for the year would be $1,550 (2017: $5,110). 
If the same sensitivity is applied to borrowings, the result would be a higher/lower interest expense of approximately $72,270 (2017: 
$111,170). 

Other financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss are represented by shares and convertible notes that are not considered 
sensitive to interest rates.

(iii) Equity price risk

The Consolidated Entity was not exposed to equity securities price risk arising from investments in listed securities during the 2018 
financial year as it had no exposure to listed securities during 2018 or at balance date (2017 – not applicable).

The Consolidated Entity has not hedged exposure to a general decline in equity market values as such strategies are not considered 
cost effective.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Consolidated 
Entity. Credit risk arises from all financial assets included in the balance sheet.

During the current reporting period, the Consolidated Entity has been exposed to credit risk arising from the potential default of 
customers with which it transacted. The Consolidated Entity endeavours to trade with only creditworthy third parties. As such collateral 
is not requested nor is it the Consolidated Entity’s policy to securitise its trade and other receivables. A credit policy is in place and 
exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Derivatives are not held to offset any credit exposure.

The Consolidated Entity may provide loan funding to investee entities which are not wholly owned but only when it forms part of the 
overall funding provided for an investment transaction. Approval of such funding is the responsibility of the Board.

Operating businesses that the Consolidated Entity invests in and which are not wholly owned will have their own credit risk policies. 
The Consolidated Entity endeavours to oversee that such entities have appropriate credit risk policies in place. Such oversight may be 
limited by the terms of the transaction.
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The carrying amounts of the financial assets recognised in the balance sheet best represent the Consolidated Entity’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date.

The Company has exposure to loans made to subsidiary entities to enable those entities to fund the investment transactions that the 
Board has elected to pursue and/or to fund the operations of those subsidiaries. Repayment of loans by the subsidiary entities is 
dependent upon proceeds realised by the subsidiary entities from investment transactions and/or net cash generated from operating 
activities.

Ageing of financial assets

The following table assesses the ageing of the carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets at the reporting date and 
details any financial assets that are individually impaired.

Consolidated

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

2018 
$’000

Receivables 
2018 
$’000

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

2017 
$’000

Receivables 
2017 
$’000

Neither past due or impaired 155 905 511 1,242

Past due but not impaired:

< 30 days - 5 - 600

30-60 days - 19 - 66

60-90 days - - - 21

> 90 days - 74 - 62

Collectively impaired - - - -

Individually impaired - (39) - (39)

Total 155 964 511 1,952

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company or its subsidiaries will not be able to meet financial obligations as they fall due.

The Board has approved a Financial Management Policy applicable to the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The Financial 
Management Policy includes policies for the investment of surplus cash and the monitoring of the liquidity, including the preparation of 
cash forecasts. The Company’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities as they fall due. 
The liquidity position is monitored for the impact of potential investment acquisitions or divestments, including any potential funding 
requirements.

Details of debt funding terms and facilities that the Consolidated Entity has in place are disclosed in Note 14.

Operating businesses in which the Consolidated Entity has invested and which are not wholly owned are required to manage their own 
liquidity requirements to meet their financial obligations as they fall due. The Consolidated Entity is able to monitor the liquidity position 
of these entities subject to the terms of the transaction and/or where it has board representation.

The following table analyses the Consolidated Entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groups based on the remaining 
contracted maturity period at the reporting date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Consolidated

Creditors and 
payables 

2018 
$’000

Unsecured 
borrowings 

2018 
$’000

Creditors and 
payables 

2017 
$’000

Unsecured 
borrowings 

2017 
$’000

Contractual cash flows 2,281 4,377 2,427 8,417

Residual contract maturities:

6 months or less 2,101 1,789 2,393 2,509

6 – 12 months 180 2,588 34 5,607

1 – 2 years - - - -

2 – 5 years - - - 301

More than 5 years - - - -

Total carrying amount 2,281 4,377 2,427 8,417
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Capital risk management

The Board regularly reviews the Company’s capital plan, including equity and debt requirements and dividend policy. This is done in 
consideration of the Company having an appropriate capital structure to support its operations. The Company does not expect to pay 
a regular dividend in the foreseeable future.

The Company completed several capital raisings during 2018, and to the date of this report. Details are set out in Notes 18 and 29. 
The Company also raised funds through loans facilities. Refer Note 14 and 29.

17 Issued capital

Company 2018 
Shares

Company 2017 
Shares

Company 2018 
$’000

Company 2017 
$’000

Ordinary shares, fully paid 2,537,559,895    956,720,314 153,575                 146,582 

Movement in ordinary share capital

Balance at the beginning of the period   956,720,314 461,564,131 146,582 140,848

Issues of new fully paid shares    452,118,998 494,322,850       2,446        5,883 

Issue of shares on conversion of convertible notes    986,832,012        833,333       3,947                10 

Issue of shares on exercise of options 141,888,571 -           993  - 

Capital raising costs incurred - - (393) (159)

Net balance at end of period 2,537,559,895 956,720,314 153,575      146,582 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the 
number of and the amounts paid on the shares held.

During 2018, the Company has issued:

• 151,297,570 ordinary shares on 27 February 2018 following shareholder approval of a share placement to sophisticated investors 
and related parties

• 1,071,428 on 7 March 2018 in a share placement to a sophisticated investor for placement fees

• 141,888,571 in total on 7 March 2018, 21 March 2018 and 5 April 2018 in a share placement to sophisticated investors and related 
parties on conversion of Options

• 179,500,000 on 10 September 2018 and 21 September 2018 in share placements to sophisticated investors 

• 13,111,065 on 26 September 2018 in a share placement on the conversion of Convertible Notes

• 50,000,000 on 5 October 2018 in a share placement to sophisticated investors

• 13,590,329 on 13 November 2018 in a share placement on the conversion of Convertible Notes

• 427,549,796 on 30 November 2018 in a share placement on the conversion of Convertible Notes

• 54,285,714 on 30 November 2018 in a share placement to sophisticated investors for placement fees and commissions

• 532,580,822 on 21 December 2018 in a share placement on the conversion of Convertible Notes

• 15,964,286 on 21 December 2018 in a share placement to sophisticated investors for placement fees

The movement in issued shares (excluding capital raising costs) is reconciled to cash proceeds from share issues as follows:

Company 
31 Dec 2018 

$’000

Company 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000

Cash received from share issues 2,162 2,309

Gross up for conversion of convertible notes 3,947 10

Gross movement for fully paid shares issued for cash 6,109 2,319

Issue of shares other than for cash1 1,277 3,574

Issues of new fully paid shares 7,386 5,893

1 Issue of shares other than for cash in 2018 includes $646,000 received in cash in 2017
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18 Share Options
(a) Entitlement Options

The Company issued options pursuant to a pro rata entitlement offer completed in April 2013. Additional options, on the same terms, 
were issued in December 2013, March 2014 and July 2016. There were 76,867,889 of these options (“Entitlement Options”) on issue at 
31 December 2017, and these options expired and lapsed on 1 July 2018. The balance at 31 December 2018 is nil. 

(b) Warrants

The Company issued Warrants as approved by Shareholders on 19 April 2017 and 23 June 2017 as follows:

• A warrant over 66,666,667 fully paid ordinary shares for an exchange price of 3 cents per share to Partners for Growth IV, L.P.  The 
warrant is for a term of 5 years and expires on 19 April 2022.

• A warrant over 26,666,667 fully paid ordinary shares for an exchange price of 2 cents per share to Allectus Capital Limited. The 
warrant is for a term of 5 years and expires on 23 June 2022.

(c) Options granted under incentive plans

The Company provides benefits to defined employees of the Consolidated Entity (including executive directors) in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or options over shares. Approved incentive 
plans for the granting of options to defined employees (including executive directors) (“Plans”) are in place. At 31 December 2018, 
there were 173,183,325 options on issue under the Plans (2017 – 42,235,528). Options on issue under the Plans may have varying 
vesting dates. All options on issue under the Plans at 31 December 2018 expire 5 years from the applicable grant date.

The Company did not issue any ordinary shares to participants in the Plans during the year ended 31 December 2018 upon exercise 
of options as no previously granted options were exercised. The issue of shares upon the exercise of options will be governed by the 
terms of the relevant plan.

Date 
options 
granted

Expiry 
Date

Exercise 
price 

$

Balance at 1 
January 2018 

#

Issued during 
the period 

#

Cancelled or 
Lapsed during 

the period 
#

Exercised 
during the 

period 
#

Balance at  
the end of  
the period  

#

Exercisable  
at the end of 

the period 
#

22-Jul-13 22-Jul-18 0.10 7,198,855 0 (7,198,855) 0 0 0

24-Dec-13 24-Dec-18 0.10 270,015 0 (270,015) 0 0 0

17-Sep-14 17-Sep-19 0.10 3,283,328 0 0 0 3,283,328 3,283,328

26-Mar-15 26-Mar-20 0.10 3,166,665 0 0 0 3,166,665 3,166,665

1-Jul-15 1-Jul-20 0.10 6,583,333 0 0 0 6,583,333 6,583,333

29-Jul-15 29-Jul-20 0.10 416,667 0 0 0 416,667 416,667

1-Dec-15 1-Dec-20 0.10 416,665 0 0 0 416,665 416,665

12-Jul-16 12-Jul-21 0.05 2,500,000 0 0 0 2,500,000 2,500,000

20-May-17 20-May-22 0.05 7,900,000 0 (2,083,333) 0 5,816,667 2,050,000

22-Jun-17 22-Jun-22 0.03 1,000,000 0 0 0 1,000,000 333,334

3-Jul-17 3-Jul-22 0.05 2,000,000 0 0 0 2,000,000 666,667

1-Aug-17 1-Aug-22 0.05 7,500,000 0 (5,250,000) 0 2,250,000 750,000

3-Apr-18 3-Apr-23 0.05 0 750,000 0 0 750,000 0

4-Dec-18 4-Dec-23 0.01 0 145,000,000 0 0 145,000,000 0

Total   42,235,528 145,750,000 (14,802,203) 0 173,183,325 20,166,659
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The Weighted Average Exercise Price of options on issue under incentive plans at balance date is $0.02 (2017: $0.07).

The principal rules governing the operation of the Plans are as follows:

(i) The Board is responsible for determining the number of options granted to each eligible employee;

(ii) Vesting conditions in relation to options are determined by the Board at the time of determination of option entitlements;

(iii) Options which have not vested when an employee ceases their employment will lapse unless an employee ceases to be employed 
through death, retirement or disablement, in which case special provisions apply or if the Board otherwise determines;

(iv) The share option exercise price is determined by the Board; 

(v) The acquisition price of the options are nil, unless the Board determines that it should be any other amount;

(vi) Share options issued pursuant to the Plans are not transferable; and

(vii) Options not exercised by their expiry date will lapse.

The weighted average contractual life of all options on issue under incentive plans outstanding at 31 December 2018 was 1,643 days 
(2017 – 1,098 days). 

(d) Other Options

The Company has granted options over shares (“Other Options”) as part of fee arrangements for capital markets and other services; to 
non-executive Directors; and to sophisticated investors as detailed in the table below. 

Entitlement – one fully paid ordinary share in the Company for each Other Option exercised. There are no vesting or exercise 
conditions.

During the period, 141,888,571 ordinary shares were issued on exercise of options.

Date 
options 
granted

Expiry 
Date

Exercise 
price 

$

Balance at 1 
January 2018 

#

Issued during 
the period 

#

Cancelled or 
Lapsed during 

the period 
#

Exercised 
during the 

period 
#

Balance at  
the end of  
the period  

#

Exercisable  
at the end of 

the period 
#

18-Aug-14 5-Aug-19 0.10 5,000,000 0 0 0 5,000,000 5,000,000

1-May-15 1-May-18 0.10 5,000,000 0 (5,000,000) 0 0 0

14-Jul-15 16-Jul-18 0.10 3,000,000 0 (3,000,000) 0 0 0

17-Jun-16 17-Jun-21 0.10 750,000 0 0 0 750,000 750,000

17-Jun-16 17-Jun-19 0.045 10,000,000 0 0 0 10,000,000 10,000,000

19-Apr-17 19-Apr-22 0.05 750,000 0 0 0 750,000 750,000

5-Jul-17 5-Jul-22 0.03 500,000 0 0 0 500,000 166,667

5-Jul-17 5-Jul-22 0.05 250,000 0 0 0 250,000 83,333

28-Feb-18 31-Mar-18 0.007 0 169,424,287 (27,535,716) (141,888,571) 0 0

30-Nov-18 28-Dec-18 0.006 0 50,000,000 (50,000,000) 0 0 0

Total   25,250,000 219,424,287 (85,535,716) (141,888,571) 17,250,000 16,750,000



INVIGOR GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018050

19 Reserves

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Employee equity benefits reserve

Opening balance 2,336 2,080

Share based payments expense (Note 6) 107 256

Total employee equity benefits reserve 2,443 2,336

Foreign currency translation reserve

Opening balance (157) (147)

Exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries

(139) (10)

Total foreign currency translation reserve (296) (157)

Options reserve

Opening balance 376 228

Options expense 2 148

Total options reserve 378 376

Shares not yet issued reserve

Opening balance 909 -

Cash received and liabilities settled for shares not issued at reporting date (672) 909

Total shares not yet issued reserve 237 909

Total reserves 2,762 3,464

The employee equity benefits reserve is used to record the value of share based payments provided to employees, including key 
management personnel, as part of their remuneration.

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of foreign subsidiaries.

The options reserve is used to record the value of options issued as part of contracted fee arrangements for services to be provided 
by third parties, and options granted to non-executive Directors. 

In December 2018, $236,800 was recognised in reserves for shares not yet issued at 31 December 2018. This amount was received in 
cash prior to period end pursuant to a Share Purchase Plan of the Company in December 2018 and January 2019. A further $15,000 
in cash was received in January 2019. On 15 January 2019, 55,955,581 ordinary shares were issued for the $251,800 total cash 
received. 

$909,083 was previously recognised in reserves for shares not yet issued at 31 December 2017. Of this amount $646,000 was 
received in cash in 2017, and the balance was used to settle liabilities of the Company. On 27 February 2018, shareholders of the 
Company approved the issue of 129,869,000 ordinary shares for the $909,083 received. 

20 Dividends
No dividends were proposed or paid during the financial year (2017 - $nil). No final dividend has been proposed for payment (2017 - 
$nil).

The Company has no franking credits available for subsequent years (2017 - $nil).
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21 Commitments
Leases

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are 
payable as follows:

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Within one year 102 442

Later than one year but not later than five years - 1,689

Later than five years - 1,513

102 3,644

The lease commitments represent payments due for leased premises under non-cancellable operating leases which have not 
otherwise been accrued or provided for. 

22 Contingent Liabilities
The directors are not aware of any material contingent liabilities at balance date or arising since the end of the financial period that 
have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the 
state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial periods.

23 Parent Entity Disclosures
As at, and throughout the financial year ending 31 December 2018, the parent Company of the Consolidated Entity was Invigor Group 
Limited.

Company 
2018 
$’000

Company 
2017 
$’000

Result of the parent entity

Profit (loss) for the period (12,276) (13,298)

Other comprehensive income (expense) - -

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the period (12,276) (13,298)

Financial position of the parent entity at year end

Current assets 1,665 3,429

Non-current assets 4,278 8,789

Total assets 5,943 12,218

Current liabilities 8,543 6,959

Non-current liabilities 8 2,021

Total liabilities 8,551 8,980

Total equity of the parent entity comprises:

Share capital 153,575 146,582

Reserves 3,061 3,624

Retained earnings (accumulated losses) (159,244) (146,968)

Total equity (2,608) 3,238

Contingent liabilities of the Company at 31 December 2018 are detailed at Note 22. Investment commitments of the Company at 31 
December 2018 are detailed at Note 21. The Company had no capital expenditure commitments at 31 December 2018. The Company 
had not provided any guarantees at 31 December 2018.



INVIGOR GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018052

24 Related party transactions and key management personnel disclosures
The following were key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity at any time during the reporting period and, unless otherwise 
indicated, were key management personnel for the entire period:

Bob McKinnon Chairman and Non-executive director 

Gary Cohen Chief Executive Officer

Gregory Cohen Executive Director – Chief Financial Officer

Claire Mula Executive Director – Chief Operating Officer

Roger Clifford Non-executive director 

Jeremy Morgan Non-executive director 

Jack Hanrahan Non-executive director 

Michael Stone Director for Products 

Leslie Cohen Commercial Director and CEO of TillerStack from 1 January 2018

Other than as noted above, there have been no changes in key management personnel in the period after the reporting date and prior 
to the date when the financial report is authorised for issue.

Details of remuneration

Details of the total remuneration of all key management personnel, including their personally related entities, are as follows:

Consolidated 
2018 

$

Consolidated 
2017 

$

Short term employee benefits 1,369,272 1,311,409

Other long-term benefits 5,704 -

Post-employment benefits - -

Share based payments 79,207 128,646

Termination benefits - -

1,454,183 1,440,055

Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel are included in the Directors Report and Remuneration Report. 

Other transactions with key management personnel or related parties

A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or 
significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. A number of those entities transacted with the Company 
or its subsidiaries in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of the transactions were no more favourable than those available, 
or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-director related entities on an arm’s-length basis.

The Company has entered into cost recovery agreements with Marcel Equity Pty Ltd and its associated entities (“Marcel”), being 
entities associated with Gary Cohen and Gregory Cohen, under which the Company reimburses Marcel, on a cost recovery basis, 
for services provided. Services include use of office space, provision of administration services, and such other services as may be 
agreed from time to time. An expense of approximately $678,000 was incurred during the current reporting period (2017 - $529,000). 
An amount of nil was payable by the Company to Marcel at balance date (2017 - nil).

The Consolidated Entity has a $100,000 interest bearing bank overdraft facility with National Australia Bank which was fully available 
at 31 December 2018 (2017 – fully available), and a $30,000 credit card facility. The facilities are secured by guarantees provided 
by entities associated with Gary Cohen and Gregory Cohen. In addition, guarantees have also been provided by entities associated 
with Gary Cohen on the PFG $2 million loan facility. An expense of $47,235 (2017 – $39,266) has been recognised in relation to these 
guarantees and is payable in full at balance date. 

In February 2016, the Company entered into an interest-bearing short-term loan arrangement with Marcel Equity Pty Ltd, a company 
associated with Gary and Gregory Cohen under which $700,000 would be made as and when required by the Company, subject to 
the terms of the loan arrangement. The facility amount was subsequently increased to $1 million in December 2016, to $2 million in 
September 2017, to $2.6 million in June 2018 and to $3 million in November 2018. Refer to note 14 for further details.
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Aggregate amounts of each of the above types of other transactions:

Amounts recognised as expense

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Service fees and cost recoveries to Marcel Equity and associated entities 678 529

Interest on borrowings/convertible notes from/held by entities associated with Gary Cohen, 
Gregory Cohen, Leslie Cohen and John Hayson1 310 215

Guarantee fees on loan and overdraft facilities 47 39

1,035 783

Aggregate amounts of liabilities at balance date relating to the above transactions:

Amounts recognised as liabilities

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Convertible notes and accrued interest owing to entities associated with Gary Cohen, 
Gregory Cohen, Leslie Cohen and John Hayson1 38 1,336

Loans and accrued interest owing to Marcel Equity and associated entities and/or  
Christof Peltason2

2,727 1,354

Service fees and cost recoveries owing to Marcel Equity and associated entities - -

Guarantee fees on loan and overdraft facilities 47 39

Owing to Christof Peltason for Debt Conversion agreement - 48

2,812 2,777

1 Former director John Hayson (retired 3 July 2017) held $300,000 of Convertible Notes issued in October 2017 and redeemed in December 2018. These 
are excluded from the 2017 total as Mr Hayson is no longer considered to be a related party. Interest expense on these Convertible Notes was $29,000 
(2017: $16,000).
2 Remaining loans owing to Christof Peltason were repaid in full in 2018 as part of the sale of Condat AG

$2,588,000 of the amounts recognised as liabilities are included in interest bearing loans and borrowings at 31 December 2018, and 
the balance is in other creditors and accrued expenses..

25 Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 
accounting policies described in note 1(e).

Name of entity
Country of 

incorporation Class of Shares

Equity holding 
2018 

%

Equity holding 
2017 

%

AimIPCo Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

Amethon Solutions (Asia Pacific) Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

Condat AG Germany Ordinary and 
Preference

- 100

Global Group Australia Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

Global Group Ventures Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

Invigor Asia Pte Limited Singapore Ordinary 100 100

Invigor Digital Solutions Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

TillerStack Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -

TillerStack GmbH (fka Invigor Holdings (Germany) 
GmbH)

Germany Ordinary 100 100

Invigor Digital Solutions India Private Ltd India Ordinary 100 100

My Digital Marketing Team International Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

Social Loot Australia Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
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26 Auditor remuneration
The following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the Company’s auditor, Moore Stephens

Consolidated 
2018 

$

Consolidated 
2017 

$

Audit services 79,052 77,087

Other services - -

79,052 77,087

The following fees were paid or payable for services provided to the Consolidated Entity by other audit firms:

Audit services 37,551 129,194

Other services 25,365 52,358

62,916 181,552

Total 141,968 258,639

27 Earnings per share

Consolidated 
2018 

Cents

Consolidated 
2017 

Cents

Earnings per share - total

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders (0.93) (2.16)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders (0.93) (2.16)

Earnings per share – continuing operations

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders (0.65) (2.25)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders (0.65) (2.25)

$’000 $’000

Reconciliation of earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share

Profit (loss) for the year from continuing operations (8,650) (13,685)

Discontinued operations (3,684) 535

Earnings used in the calculation of total basic earnings per share (12,334) (13,150)

Reconciliation of earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share

Earnings used in the calculation of total basic earnings per share (12,334) (13,150)

Non-discretionary changes in earnings arising from dilutive potential ordinary shares - -

Earnings used in the calculation of total diluted earnings per share (12,334) (13,150)

Shares Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per 
share 1,326,735,424 608,049,367

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per 
share 1,326,735,424 608,049,367
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28 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Consolidated 
2017 
$’000

Net profit (loss) for the year after related income tax expense (12,334) (13,150)

Add(deduct):

Depreciation and amortisation 3,557 1,768

Borrowing costs shown as financing cash flows 1,023 1,043

Capitalised costs in operating cash flows (1,723) (2,246)

Impairment of intangibles & other financial assets - 6,950

(Profit) loss from Joint Venture (31) 47

Loss on sale of assets - 13

(Gain) loss on discontinued operations 3,684 -

Share based payment and option expenses 109 404

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 988 (321)

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables (146) 271

Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue (75) 98

Increase (decrease) in provisions (112) 135

Exchange differences on translation 6 (22)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities (5,054) (5,010)

29 Events Subsequent to Balance Date
On 15 January 2019, 55,955,581 ordinary shares were issued on the conclusion of a Share Purchase Plan completed by the Company. 
A total of $251,800 cash was received, including $236,800 received before period end.  

As per note 14, subsequent to 31 December 2018, $0.5 million of the PFG loan was repaid on 28 February 2019. The repayment date 
of A$1.5 million the loan has been extended to 30 June 2019, with A$0.25 million repayable in April 2019, and interest to accrue at 
12% pa. 

On 2 January 2019, $116,667 of the $350,000 loan facility was repaid.

On 27 February 2019 the Company secured a $1 million loan facility which will be used for funding of working capital and part 
repayment of other loan facilities. 

On 29 March 2019, the Company received a commitment for a $0.5 million share placement at $0.004 to a sophisticated investor. 
The Company expects to issue 125 million ordinary shares in early April 2019. An additional 25 million unlisted options, expiring in 12 
months at $0.004 will be also be issued to the investor.

On 29 March 2019, the Company also received a commitment for a $0.5 million convertible note from a sophisticated investor. The 
convertible note will be for 12 months at $0.005, and will be finalised in April 2019.

On 29 March 2019, the Company issued 872,086 ordinary shares as a final adjustment to the Invigor Asia Pte Ltd (formerly Sprooki Pte 
Ltd) purchase price. The shares were issued at $0.015, with a total value of $13,081. 

The directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance that has occurred since the end of the financial period that has 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of 
affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial periods.
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In the opinion of the Directors of Invigor Group Limited (“the Company”):

(a) the consolidated financial statements and notes set out on pages 23 to 55, and the remuneration disclosures that are contained in 
pages 17 to 21 of the Directors’ Report, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2018 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001.

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

The directors draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements, which include a statement of compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, or their equivalents, for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Bob McKinnon      Gary Cohen  

Chairman       Director and CEO      
 

Dated at Sydney this 29th day of March 2019 

DIRECTORS DECLARATION 
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF INVIGOR GROUP LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Invigor Group Limited and controlled entities (the Group), which comprises 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 
In our opinion: 
 
a) the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 
i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2018 and of its financial 

performance for the year then ended; and  
 
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 
b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 
report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 1(c) in the financial statements, which identifies that during the year ended 
31 December 2018 the Group incurred a consolidated net loss of $12.3m, had net cash outflows from operating 
activities of $5.1m, and that the Group’s current liabilities exceed its current assets by $8.6m. These events and 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1(c), indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may 
cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

The directors have stated that the Group’s ability to continue to operate as a going concern is dependent upon the 
items in Note 1(c) eventuating.   Should these events not occur as anticipated, the Group is unlikely to be able to 
pursue its business objectives and will have difficulty continuing to operate as a going concern, including realising 
its assets and extinguishing its liabilities at the amounts shown in the financial statements. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.  
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

KEY AUDIT MATTER 1 – VALUATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Refer to Note 11 

As at 31 December 2018 the Group has total 
Intangible Assets of $6m which is disclosed in 
following classes:   

 Software and Technology ($2.6m); 

 Goodwill ($950K); and  

 Capitalised Development Costs ($2.5m).   

We focused on this area due to the size of the 
intangible assets balance and because the directors’ 
assessment of the ‘value in use’ of the Group’s CGUs 
involves judgements about the future results of the 
business and the discount rates applied to the future 
cash flows which are inherently uncertain. 

 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 We reviewed in detail the Group’s change in 
economic life policy relating to its Software 
and Technology (from 5 years to 2 years 
effective 1 July 2018) and Capitalised 
Development Costs (from 5 years to 3 years 
effective 1 July 2018).   

 We evaluated management’s cash flow 
forecasts covering a 5 year period and the 
process by which they were developed, 
including verifying the mathematical accuracy 
of the underlying calculations.  We also 
compared them to the latest board approved 
budgets. 

 We also challenged:   

1. Management’s key assumptions for 
long –term growth rates in the 
forecasts by comparing them to 
historical results; and  

2. The discount rate used in the model by 
assessing the cost of capital for the 
Group by comparing it to market data 
and industry research. 

 We then tested the assumptions used by 
management, analysing the impact on the 
value in use calculation by adjusting the 
EBITDA growth rate, WACC and terminal value 
growth rate used within a reasonably 
foreseeable range. 

 Considered the Group’s ability to realise its 
intellectual property through sale. 

 Reviewed the disclosures in the financial 
statements to ensure they are appropriate 
and adequate. 
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Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information included 
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2018, but does not include the financial report and 
our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial 
report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located on the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
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Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 17 to 21 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 
December 2018. 
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Invigor Group Limited, for the year ended 31 December 2018 complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Responsibilities 
 
The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  
 

 
MOORE STEPHENS AUDIT (VIC) 
ABN 16 847 721 257 
 

 
ANDREW JOHNSON 
Partner 
Audit & Assurance Services 
 
Melbourne, Victoria 
 
29 March 2019 
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Additional information required under ASX Listing Rule 4.10 and not shown elsewhere in this Annual Report is as follows. The 
information is current as at 2 April 2019.

(a) Distribution of Equities – Ordinary Shares

The distribution of issued capital is as follows:

Size of Holding
Number of 

Shareholders
Ordinary  

Shares
% of  

issued shares

1 – 1,000 1,054 245,993 0.009%

1,001 – 5,000 250 641,703 0.025%

5,001 – 10,000 106 827,865 0.032%

10,001 – 100,000 674 34,261,253 1.321%

100,001 and over 813 2,558,410,748 98.613%

Total 2,897 2,594,387,562 100.00%

(b) Distribution of Equities – Quoted Options

The company has no quoted options on issue at the date of preparation therefore no disclosure is made.

(c) Distribution of Equities – Unquoted Options

The distribution of unquoted options is as follows:

Size of Holding
Number of  

Holders
Unquoted  

Options % of options

1 – 1,000 - - -

1,001 – 5,000 - - -

5,001 – 10,000 - - -

10,001 – 100,000 2 166,666 0.08%

100,001 and over 45 215,266,659 99.92%

Total 47 215,433,325 100.00%

(d) Distribution of Equities – Warrants

The company has two warrants on issue over a total of 93,333,333 ordinary shares. The holders of these warrants are:

• Partners For Growth IV, L.P. A warrant over 66,666,666 ordinary shares

• Allectus Capital Limited. A warrant over 26,666,667 ordinary shares

(e) Less than marketable parcels of ordinary shares

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares was 2,245.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Additional information
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(f) 20 Largest Shareholders

The twenty largest shareholders of quoted ordinary shares are listed below.

Number of fully paid 
Ordinary Shares

% of  
Issued Shares

1 RJL Investments Pty Ltd <Gary Cohen Family A/C> 358,567,545 13.821%

2 Glowaim Pty Ltd 266,696,652 10.280%

3 H Investments International Pty Limited <The H Investments A/C> 143,282,302 5.523%

4 Ms Yun Cong Ye & Ms Min Hua Huang <Sun's Unit A/C> 136,428,572 5.259%

5 Raus Capital Fund Ltd1 125,000,000 4.818%

6 Dr Brian Louis Cohen 90,833,334 3.501%

7 HSBC Custody Nominees 70,197,931 2.706%

8 Ms Fei Fan Song & Ms Min Hua Huang <Song's Unit A/C> 57,142,857 2.203%

9 Cassandra Simone 55,666,667 2.146%

10 Michael Simone 55,666,667 2.146%

11 Tania Simone 55,666,666 2.146%

12 Raus Capital Fund Ltd 52,378,548 2.019%

13 Asia Investment Labs Pty Ltd 41,959,932 1.617%

14 Fiona Chen 27,625,000 1.065%

15 Fusheng Investments Limited 25,000,000 0.964%

16 Mr Gregory Hyam Cohen & Mrs Karen Lee Cohen <G & K Cohen Super A/C> 24,552,194 0.946%

17 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 22,779,784 0.878%

18 Ms Jessica Chen 22,678,571 0.874%

19 Get2volume Pte Ltd 21,513,028 0.829%

20 Mr Zhuo Xian Huang 21,428,571 0.826%

 Totals 1,675,064,821 64.565%

 Total Quoted Equity Securities 2,594,387,562  

1. 125,000,000 shares held in trust for Karoo Investments Group Pty Ltd pending finalisation of commercial negotiations.

(g) 20 Largest Option Holders

There are no quoted options at the date of preparation therefore no disclosure is made.

(h) Unquoted Equity Securities 

Number of  
unquoted options

Number of  
holders of  

unquoted equity 
securities2

The Company had the following unquoted options on issue as at 2 April 2019 (excluding 
executive and employee options):

42,250,000 7

The Company had the following unquoted executive and employee options on issue as at 
2 April 2019:

173,183,325 40

2. There are no holders of greater than 20% of the unquoted options at 2 April 2019

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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(i) Substantial Shareholders

The names of the substantial shareholders based on notices received by the Company as at 2 April 2019 was:

Name

Number of 

shares held
% of Issued 

Capital3

RJL Investments Pty Ltd and Gregkar Pty Ltd 402,322,577 15.97%

Glowaim Pty Ltd 266,696,651 10.51%

H Investments International Pty Ltd 148,907,302 5.87%

Ms Yun Cong Ye & Ms Min Hua Huang <Sun's Unit A/C> 136,428,572 5.38%

3. Percentage calculations are as shown in the substantial shareholder notices lodged by the shareholder.

(j) Restricted Securities

The Company had 125,000,000 restricted securities on issue at 2 April 2019. These shares are held in trust for Karoo Investments 
Group Pty Ltd pending finalisation of commercial negotiations.

(k) Voting rights

In accordance with the Constitution each member present at a meeting whether in person, or by proxy, pr by power of attorney, or in a 
duly authorised representative in the case of a corporate member, shall have one vote on a show of hands, and one vote for each fully 
paid ordinary share, on a poll.

Options have no voting rights. 

(l) Buy-Back

The Company does not have a current on-market buy-back.
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